
Page 1 of 1 

 
AGENDA FOR REGULAR MEETING 

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
PLAN COMMISSION 

 October 18, 2018 – 7:00 P.M. 
Council Chambers 

Village Hall – 16250 S. Oak Park Avenue 
 

Regular Meeting Called to Order 
Pledge of Allegiance 
Roll Call Taken 
Communications 
Approval of Minutes: Minutes of the October 4, 2018 Regular Meeting 
 
Item #1 WORKSHOP: BREMEN STATION – 6775 SOUTH STREET, VIN PROPERTIES LLC 

SITE PLAN APPROVAL, SPECIAL USE, VARIATIONS AND PRELIMINARY/FINAL 
PLAT APPROVAL 
Consider granting Site Plan approval and a Special Use Permit to the Petitioner, Vince Tessitore, 
on behalf of VIN Properties LLC to allow Accessory Residential Uses where street-level 
commercial is required and Variations from the Zoning Code to construct a 60,311 square foot 5-
story mixed-use development consisting of 39 residential apartments and 4,579 square feet of retail 
space on the first floor for the property located at 6775 South Street in the DC (Downtown Core) 
Zoning District. 

 
Good of the Order 
Receive Comments from the Public 
Adjourn Meeting 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         October 4, 2018           

Page 1 of 11 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE  
PLAN COMMISSION, VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, 
COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS 

 
October 4, 2018 
 
 
 

 
The Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission was held in the Council Chambers of Village Hall on October 4, 2018 at 7:00 
p.m. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
Plan Commissioners:  Ken Shaw, Chairman 

Chuck Augustyniak 
Eduardo Mani 

    Lucas Engel 
Garrett Gray 
 

Absent Plan Commissioner(s):   Stephen Vick 
Tim Stanton 
Angela Gatto 
MaryAnn Aitchison 

 
Village Officials and Staff: Kimberly Clarke, Planning Manager 
    Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary  
 
Guest(s): Michael Matthys, Brad Hoepfner, Kyle Fread 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
PLAN COMMISSION CHAIRMAN SHAW called to order the Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission for October 4, 
2018 at 7:03 p.m. 
  
COMMUNICATIONS 
 
None at this time 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Minutes of the September 20, 2018 Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission were presented for approval.  A Motion was 
made by COMMISSIONER MANI, seconded by COMMISSIONER GRAY, to approve the Minutes as presented.  The 
Motion was approved by voice call.  CHAIRMAN SHAW declared the Motion approved as presented.  
 

 

 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         October 4, 2018           

Page 2 of 11 

TO:   VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

FROM:  VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION 
 
SUBJECT:  MINUTES OF THE OCTOBER 4, 2018 REGULAR MEETING 
 
Item #1 PUBLIC HEARING:  VETERINARY CLINIC - 17745-17749 OAK PARK AVENUE SITE PLAN 

APPROVAL AND GRANTING VARIATIONS 
Consider granting Site Plan Approval to modify the exterior of the existing one-story commercial building 
and consider recommending that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Cynthia Cecott, the following 
Variations requested: 
1. A Variation from Section XII.2.D.10.b to apply the Heritage Site Standards exceeding 50% of the 

property’s market value in site improvements.  
2. A 19 parking stall Variation from Section XII.2.D.10.c. (Table 2.D.7) to reduce the required number of 

street level commercial parking to eight (8) parking stalls where the required number is 26 parking 
stalls. 

 
 
Present were the following: 
 
Plan Commissioners:  Ken Shaw, Chairman 

Chuck Augustyniak 
Eduardo Mani 

    Lucas Engel 
Garrett Gray 
 

Absent Plan Commissioner(s):   Stephen Vick 
Tim Stanton 
Angela Gatto 
MaryAnn Aitchison 

 
Village Officials and Staff: Kimberly Clarke, Planning Manager 
    Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary  
 
Guest(s): Michael Matthys, Brad Hoepfner, Kyle Fread 
 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER AUGUSTYNIAK, seconded by COMMISSIONER ENGEL, to open the 
Public Hearing for The Veterinary Clinic - 17745-17749 Oak Park Avenue site plan approval and granting variations.   The  
Motion was approved by voice call.  CHAIRMAN SHAW declared the Motion approved.  
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW noted that Village Staff provided confirmation that appropriate notice regarding the Public Hearing 
was published in the local newspaper in accordance with State law and Village requirements.  
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW requested anyone present in the audience, who wished to give testimony, comment, engage in cross-
examination or ask questions during the Hearing stand and be sworn in. 
 
Kimberly Clarke, Planning Manager gave a presentation and displayed photos as noted in the Staff Report.  Dr. Cynthia 
Cecott is requesting Site plan approval and Variations from the Legacy Code.  The Variations will permit the petitioner to 
complete site improvements that exceed the maximum 50% property value threshold for the property to remain classified 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         October 4, 2018           

Page 3 of 11 

as a Heritage Site and a Variation of 19 parking spaces from the 27 required parking spaces. These Variations will allow the 
petitioner to modify the existing façade, remodel the interior space to expand the Veterinary Clinic, add an additional 2,565 
square feet within the existing footprint of the building, install signage and lighting and make the necessary landscape 
improvements consistent with Code requirements. The costs of the Voluntary improvements exceeds the 50% property value 
threshold for Heritage Sites located at 17745-17749 Oak Park Avenue in the Neighborhood General (NG) Zoning District. 

The property is situated at the corner of Oak Park Avenue and 178th Street.  Nearby land uses include single-family 
residential and commercial properties to the north and east, a vacant lot to the south, single-family attached and commercial 
properties to the west. The vacant lot to the south was previously a commercial building that was an Italian restaurant from 
1994 to 2008 and in 2011 changed ownership and became a different restaurant called Carms Beef. The property was issued 
a demolition permit in 2017 and has remained vacant. There were two structures on the parcel immediately to the north, 
which was once occupied by a Plumbing Supply Company. This property was purchased by the owners of Bailey’s 
Restaurant and Bar in 2012 and shortly thereafter razed the structures, consolidated the lots and constructed the parking lot 
that exists today. 

The Petitioner purchased this property last year and has been occupying the property for almost nine years as a Veterinary 
Clinic.  This is a full service clinic with hours of operation as noted in the Staff Report. 

The main Variation request is being triggered by the Legacy Code.  As listed in the chart below change in ownership triggers 
certain required improvements. 

 

The proposed site has been updated from the workshop.  The Petitioner has provided parkway trees and has identified the 
species.  The north side of the property currently has concrete curb wheel stops and flower pots.  Initially the architect was 
providing a planter box that would replace the concrete curb stops, but the owner has indicated she would like to retain 
those due to possible damage to the building while vehicles are backing out to the parking stalls.  Staff is happy to see the 
overall building is being improved.   

The parking lot is existing and has been since the property has been documented.  At some point the Village required the 
parking along Oak Park Avenue be removed.  This was partially encroaching on the right-of-way and the landscaping was 
installed.  On the south side there are parking stalls that are on the Village’s right-of-way.  Previous ownership entered into 
a Parking Use and Maintenance Agreement with the Village to indemnify the Village from any liability and putting the 
maintenance requirement on the owner.  This will be continued with the current owner.  There are also additional 
opportunities to enter into a shared parking agreements with Bailey’s Restaurant to the north.  If there are parking issues in 
the future this will be something the owner will have to entertain.  The ADA stall has been relocated to the north parking 
area. 

The elevations have not changed from the workshop.  The Petitioner will be repainting the face brick and adding screening 
on the roof to screen the HVAC units from view.  The Petitioner will comply with the Village Sign Code.   

Ms. Clarke displayed an image of the proposed floor plan showing expansion to the middle portion of the building leaving 
the other end portion for a future tenant.  The Petitioner will remove all nonconforming lighting on the exterior and will 
provide lighting that will conform to the Village’s lighting standards.   



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         October 4, 2018           

Page 4 of 11 

Ms. Clarke presented an image of how the market value is determined as follows per the Assessor’s page. 

28-31-208-006-0000 =   $39,513 (2018 Assessed Value) 

28-31-208-007-0000 =   $39,399 (2018 Assessed Value) 

Total Assessed Value is =  $78,912 

Level of Assessment is =   divide by    .25 

Market Value                 =  $315,648 

Heritage Site 50%   $157,824  

Proposed Voluntary Improvements $274,140 
 

Ms. Clarke noted two Variation Requests: 

1. A Variation from Section XII.2.D.10.b to allow the Heritage Site Standards to exceed 50% of the 
property’s market value in site improvements.  The subject property and its current use as a Veterinarian 
Clinic is a conforming use as a Heritage Site; however, the proposed improvements will exceed the 50% 
threshold as a Heritage Site thereby prohibiting the property to continue its use as a stand-alone commercial 
property. In order for the Petitioner to continue its use as a stand-alone commercial use, a Variation is 
required.    

 
This will be the first Variation request from the 50% threshold for a Heritage Site. As such, staff created 
some standards to consider for this particular type of Variation. When reviewing this request Staff took into 
consideration the following:  

 
• The condition of the existing building:  The building is in sound condition with the exception of some 

maintenance issues related to the fascia.   
• The ownership of the property (owner-occupied): The new property owner will continue to operate their 

business in this location. 
• The longevity of the existing non-conforming use:  The property owner has occupied the building for nine 

(9) years. 
• The ability for the property to be converted to function as mixed-use:  Discussions with the Architect 

suggests that a second-story to accommodate residential uses is cost prohibitive. It is also questionable if 
living above a Veterinarian Clinic would be desirable due to the potential for noise from the animals.   

• The impact of the continuation of the non-conforming use on the redevelopment potential of the area: The 
property is located at the end of the block and if it were to remain as a commercial property it would not 
interfere with the rest of the block’s ability to redevelop following the code requirements. It is also important 
to note that the property directly to the north is a viable business that in 2012 purchased additional property 
to expand their parking lot. It is likely this property will remain a commercial use for a long time. The 
residential properties to the east of this property are screened from the property by a privacy fence. The 
townhomes to the west across Oak Park Avenue are screened from this property with the landscaping that 
was installed when the subdivision was created.  The proposed landscaping improvements and rooftop 
screening will further reduce any impacts of this commercial property from adjacent residential homes.  

 
Based on the above factors, Staff supports a Variation of the 50% threshold for Heritage Sites and allow the property 
to continue to operate under the Heritage Site status.  

 
2. A nineteen (19) parking stall Variation from Section XII.2.D.10.c. (Table 2.D.7) to reduce the required 

number of street-level commercial parking to eight (8) parking stalls where the required number is 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         October 4, 2018           

Page 5 of 11 

twenty-seven (27) parking stalls.  Although the site is unable to provide adequate parking per Code, there 
are 10 on-street parking spaces that can be dedicated to this use through a Parking Use and Maintenance 
Agreement.  This will reduce the deficiency to nine (9) parking spaces. It is unknown if or when 178th Street 
will be continued easterly, and until then it remains a dead end street. Allowing on-street parking on this 
portion of 178th Street will not increase the traffic or congestion on the roads and will help to provide the 
necessary parking for the property. It should be noted that the existing parking condition will limit the type 
of business that may lease the vacant unit.  At the workshop the Petitioner stated due to the vacancies in the 
building, there are no parking issues.  
However, with the expansion of the Veterinarian Clinic and the future occupancy of the vacant unit, parking 
issues may arise. Therefore staff recommends a condition of the Variation is if parking issues arise based 
on the existing use or any change of uses; the owner is to enter into a shared parking agreement with adjacent 
properties or supply an alternative parking plan. 

 
Staff identified the following remaining open items: 
 

1. The applicant prepare a plat of easement to provide for a 25’ alley easement in the rear of the property to be 
approved by the Village Board. 

2. Staff recommends a condition of Site Plan Approval, the Petitioner enters into a parking use agreement with the 
Village for the parking stalls along 178th Street. 

3. Staff recommends a condition of the Site Plan Approval require all nonconforming exterior light fixtures are 
replaced with lights that conform to the Villages regulations for glare. 

 
CHAIRMAN SHAW asked the Petitioner to speak. 
 
No comments at this time.   
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW asked for questions or comments from the Commissioners. 
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW inquired if any Commissioners had concerns about the concrete bumpers remaining. 
 
No concerns at this time.   
 
COMMISSIONER AUGUSTYNIAK inquired if there were any complaints from neighbors in the last nine years. 
 
Ms. Clarke replied that there were no complaints or Code Violations 
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW asked for comments from the public. 
 
None at this time.   
 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER AUGUSTYNIAK, seconded by COMMISSIONER ENGEL to close the Public 
Hearing on The Veterinary Clinic - 17745-17749 Oak Park Avenue site plan approval and granting variations.                                  
The Motion was approved by voice call.  CHAIRMAN SHAW declared the Motion approved.   
 
Ms. Clarke noted the Standards as follows: 
 
Site Plan Approval Standards 
 
Section III.T.2. of the Zoning Ordinance requires that Planning Staff must find that the conditions listed below must be met. 
Staff will prepare draft responses for these conditions within the next Staff Report. 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         October 4, 2018           

Page 6 of 11 

 
a. That the proposed Use is a Permitted Use in the district in which the property is located. 

A Veterinarian Clinic is considered a permitted use and is classified as a legal nonconforming use in the NG 
District. When the Legacy Code was adopted, the property was zoned to NG (Neighborhood General) District 
which is intended to be for residential use only. However, the commercial building and uses were established 
prior to the adoption of the Legacy Code and therefore are allowed to remain as a Heritage Site.  
 

b. That the proposed arrangement of buildings, off-street parking, access, lighting, landscaping, and drainage is 
compatible with adjacent land uses.   
The existing arrangement of the building, parking, access, lighting and landscaping is a product of the codes 
at the time the site was constructed.  Little can be done to provide for additional parking however, there is 
existing on-street parking on 178th Street that has been historically used by this property.  The parking can 
remain as long as the owner agrees to enter into a parking use agreement with the Village.  The owner is 
trying to meet the intent of the landscaping requirements by incorporating additional landscaping in the 
front yard by removing the asphalt and planting shade trees and bushes.  The existing wall pack lights are 
being replaced with a full cut off lights and the owner has agreed to provide a 25’ easement in the rear of the 
property for a future alley.  
 

c. That the vehicular ingress and egress to and from the site and circulation within the site provides for safe, 
efficient, and convenient movement of traffic, not only within the site but on adjacent roadways as well. 
Little can be done to improve the ingress and egress and circulation from the site.  The owner plans to repair 
the parking lot and a condition of site plan approval is to relocate the handicap parking stall on private 
property.  To meet the intent of the Legacy Code, the owner has agreed to provide a 25’ easement in the rear 
of the property for a future alley.  
 

d. That the Site Plan provides for the safe movement of pedestrians within the site.  
The site plan proposes removing the asphalt in the front of the building and installing a five (5) foot concrete 
sidewalk that will connect to the public sidewalk along Oak Park Avenue.  
 

e. That there is a sufficient mixture of grass, trees, and shrubs within the interior and perimeter (including public 
right-of-way) of the site so that the proposed development will be in harmony with adjacent land uses and will 
provide a pleasing appearance to the public; any part of the Site Plan area not used for buildings, structures, 
parking, or access-ways shall be landscaped with a mixture of grass, trees, and shrubs. 
The owner is attempting to improve the landscaping where possible without further reducing the parking or 
impede access around the site. The front yard will be enhanced with the addition of shade trees and removal 
of the asphalt in the front lawn area. Additional planters will be placed on the north side of the building to 
provide for foundation planting. 
 

f. That all outdoor trash storage areas are adequately screened. 
There is an existing trash enclosure located at the northeast corner of the site that is screened with a 
privacy fence. The location of the trash enclosure is in the way of the future alley that is proposed per the 
Legacy Plan however, there are no immediate plans at this time to construct the alley. 
 

 
Legacy Code Standards 
 
In addition to any other specific standards set forth herein the Plan Commission shall not recommend a Special Use, 
variance, appeal, or map amendment from the regulations of this ordinance unless it shall have made findings of fact, based 
upon evidence presented to it, in each specific case that: 
 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         October 4, 2018           

Page 7 of 11 

a. The proposed improvement meets the Legacy Plan and its Principles, as presented in Section 1.A-B: Purpose 
and Intent, of this ordinance; 
Granting the Variation to allow the owner to exceed the maximum threshold of 50% of voluntary site 
improvements will allow an existing business to remain and contribute to the economic welfare of the 
overall district. In addition, the improvements may attract a new business in the vacant unit which has been 
vacant for a few years. 

 
b. The new improvement is compatible with uses already developed or planned in this district and will not 

exercise undue detrimental influences upon surrounding properties; 
The exterior improvements will improve the curb appeal from Oak Park Avenue and compliment the 
improvements the commercial building to the north (Bailey’s Restaurant and Bar). 

 
c. Any improvement meets the architectural standards set forth in the Legacy Code. 

The proposed ribbed metal rooftop screen will enhance the curb appeal of the property from Oak Park 
Avenue by screening the several rooftop HVAC units that are currently visible from the street. The painting 
of the building will give it a uniform look and tie into the overall color scheme of the improvements. 

 
d. The improvement will have the effect of protecting and enhancing the economic development of the Legacy 

Plan area. 
The proposed improvements will help to make the site a viable commercial space while still protecting the 
character of the site. The existing business can remain and expand and the improvements will attract a new 
business in the remaining vacant unit. 

 
 
Variation Standards 
 
Section X.G.4. of the Zoning Ordinance states the Plan Commission shall not recommend a Variation of the regulations of 
the Zoning Ordinance unless it shall have made Findings of Fact, based upon the evidence presented for each of the 
Standards for Variations listed below. The Plan Commission must provide findings for the first three standards; the 
remaining standards are provided to help the Plan Commission further analyze the request. Staff will prepare draft responses 
for the Findings of Fact within the next Staff Report.  
 

2. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the conditions 
allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located. 

The Veterinarian Clinic has been operating out of this location for approximately nine (9) years. The 
other remaining tenant spaces have had businesses come and go. The Veterinarian Clinic can continue 
to operate as is and the remaining vacant spaces can be leased by other commercial uses. The Variation 
to exceed the maximum 50% of site improvements will allow more freedom for the Veterinarian Clinic 
to improve their space and improve the exterior of the building. In addition, a condition of the 
Veterinarian Clinic’s loan for purchasing the property is they are required to occupy at least 50% of the 
building. This will allow the clinic to expand their services and provide for the better care of their animals 
but will require significant investment into the property. 

 
3. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances. 

The Heritage site status and limitation to the percentage of site improvements is not unique to this 
property. Many properties within the Legacy Plan were rezoned to Neighborhood General and are 
subject to the same restrictions.  

  
4. The Variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         October 4, 2018           

Page 8 of 11 

The Variation will not alter the essential character of the locality.  The Veterinarian Clinic has been 
operating out of this location for approximately nine (9) years and is looking to expand within the 
existing footprint of the building. The proposed exterior improvements will update the building’s curb 
appeal and screen the existing unsightly HVAC units on the roof. There are existing commercial uses to 
the north and west that have been existing along with this property with no issues. The property is located 
at the end of the block and if it were to remain as a commercial property, it would not interfere with the 
rest of the block’s ability to redevelop following the code requirements. 

 
5. Additionally, the Plan Commission shall also, in making its determination whether there are practical difficulties 

or particular hardships, take into consideration the extent to which the following facts favorable to the Petitioner 
have been established by the evidence: 
 

a. The particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical condition of the specific property 
involved would result in a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations were carried out; 
 

b. The conditions upon which the petition for a Variation is based would not be applicable, generally, to 
other property within the same zoning classification; 
 

c. The purpose of the Variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of the 
property; 
 

d. The alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by the owner of the property, or by a previous 
owner; 
 

e. The granting of the Variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to other property 
or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located; and 
 

f. The proposed Variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to an adjacent property, or 
substantially increase the congestion in the public streets, or increase the danger of fire, or endanger 
the public safety, or substantially diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood. 

 
 
Additional Standards Specific to a Parking Variance 
 
The number of off-street automobile and/or bicycle parking spaces required in all districts may be reduced by a variance 
reviewed by the Plan Commission and approved by the Village Board following the variance standards in Section 3.C and 
when all of the following standards are met: 
 

a. The development does not have the benefit of shared or collective parking; 
The property is benefiting from the on-street parking on 178th Street. If that parking were to be 
removed by the Village in the future, the property owner would need to enter into a shared 
parking agreement with the adjacent property to the north, which is Bailey’s Restaurant & Bar or 
the Tinley Center office complex to the west across the street. Based on statements from the owner 
at the workshop, there currently is an informal agreement with the property to the north but it is 
not formal. 
 

b. The applicant proves that adequate parking exists for such use, based on the unique number, type 
and use characteristics (i.e., peak hour or day) of those businesses or residences that currently use 
such a lot;  



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         October 4, 2018           

Page 9 of 11 

The parking for the existing veterinarian clinic is adequate however once they expand; they will 
be reliant on the on-street parking provided on 178th Street for customers. There may be future 
issues when the vacant unit is leased. This future tenant will need to demonstrate that the site 
provides adequate parking based on their hours of operation, number of employees and operation 
of the business. 
 

c. A municipal or commuter parking lot exists within 300 feet of the development that has adequate 
parking to accommodate all or a portion of the number of required spaces for the use; 
There are ten (10) on-street parking stalls on the south side of the property on Village’s right-of-
way. The owner will be required to enter into a parking use agreement with Village. They will be 
responsible for maintaining these parking stalls. 
 

d. The owner of the building makes a payment equal to $1,000 per required automobile and bicycle 
parking space that cannot be provided on the subject lot. The fees collected for the payment in lieu of 
parking will be used only for the acquisition of land or construction of municipally owned or leased 
off street parking facilities for automobiles or bicycles; landscape or streetscape; bike trails, lanes, or 
paths; or maintenance or illumination of off-street parking facilities.  
A condition of approval will be for the owner to enter into a parking agreement with the Village to 
continue to use the on-street parking along 178th Street. 

MOTION #1 
 
A motion was made by COMMISSIONER GRAY, seconded by COMMISSIONER ENGEL to recommend that the Village 
Board grant the Petitioner, Dr. Cynthia M. Cecott of Veterinarian Clinic of Tinley Park, Site Plan approval for the property 
at 17745-17749 Oak Park Avenue in the NG (Neighborhood General) Zoning District and in accordance with the plans 
submitted and listed herein, subject to the following conditions:” 
 

1. The Petitioner prepares a plat of easement to provide a 25’ wide alley easement in the rear of the property for 
future ingress/egress to be approved by Village Board and Recorded with the Cook County Recorder of Deeds 
prior to issuance of any permits. 

2. The Petitioner enters into a Parking Use Agreement with the Village. 
3. The Petitioner removes all nonconforming exterior building light fixtures and submits cut-sheets of light fixtures 

to confirm they conform to the Villages regulations for glare. 
 
AYES:  MANI, GRAY, ENGEL, AITCHISON, GATTO AND CHAIRMAN SHAW. 

 
NAYS:  NONE 

 
CHAIRMAN SHAW declared the Motion unanimously approved.     
  
 
MOTION #2 
 
A motion was made by COMMISISONER AUGUSTYNIAK, seconded by COMMISSIONER ENGEL to recommend 
that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Dr. Cynthia M. Cecott of Veterinarian Clinic of Tinley Park, the following 
Variations: 
 

1. A Variation from Section XII.2.D.10.b to allow the Heritage Site Standards to exceed 50% of the property’s 
market value in site improvements   

2. A nineteen (19) parking stall Variation from Section XII.2.D.10.c. (Table 2.D.7) to reduce the required number of 
street-level commercial parking to eight (8) parking stalls where the required number is twenty-seven (27) parking 
stalls at 17745-17749 Oak Park Avenue in the NG (Neighborhood General) Zoning District and adopt the 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         October 4, 2018           

Page 10 of 11 

Findings of Fact proposed by Village Staff and the Plan Commission at this meeting with the following 
conditions:” 
 

1. The Petitioner prepares a plat of easement to provide a 25’ wide alley in the rear of the property 
for future ingress/egress to be approved by Village Board and Recorded with the Cook County 
Recorder of Deeds prior to issuance of any permits. 

2. The Petitioner enters into a Parking Use Agreement with the Village prior to issuance of a 
building permit. 

3. The Petitioner removes all nonconforming exterior building light fixtures and submits cut-sheets 
of light fixtures to confirm they conform to the Villages regulations for glare. 

 
AYES:  MANI, GRAY, ENGEL, AITCHISON, GATTO AND CHAIRMAN SHAW. 
 
NAYS:  NONE 
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW declared the Motion unanimously approved.     

 

MOTION #3 

A motion was made by COMMISSIONER ENGEL, seconded by COMMISSIONER AUGUSTYNIAK to recommend 
that the Village Board grant approval of a Plat of Easement to the Petitioner, Dr. Cynthia M. Cecott of Veterinarian Clinic 
of Tinley Park, for the property at 17745-17749 Oak Park Avenue in the NG (Neighborhood General) Zoning District and 
in, subject to the following condition:” 

 
1. Petitioner’s final Preparation of a Plat of Easement providing a 25’ easement in the rear of the property has shown 
on the approved Site Plan.  

 
AYES:  MANI, GRAY, ENGEL, AITCHISON, GATTO AND CHAIRMAN SHAW. 
 
NAYS:  NONE 
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW declared the Motion unanimously approved.     

 
 
This will be presented to the Village Board on October 16, 2018 for First Reading/Adoption. 
   

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         October 4, 2018           

Page 11 of 11 

GOOD OF THE ORDER: 
 

1. The Boulevard going to COW on 10/9/18 for Incentive 
2. The Bremen Station to Plan Commission on 10/18/18 
3. Ferguson was approved at the Village Board Meeting. 
4. Commissioner are currently going through the Fair Housing Training 

 
COMMENTS FROM THE COMMISSION 
 
None at this time. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: 

None at this time. 

ADJOURNMENT: 

There being no further business, a Motion was made by PLAN COMMISSIONER AUGUSTYNIAK, seconded by PLAN 
COMMISSIONER GRAY to adjourn the Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission of October 4, 2018 at                                                                                             
7:42 p.m. The Motion was unanimously approved by voice call.  PLAN COMMISSION CHAIRMAN SHAW declared the 
meeting adjourned. 

 



October 18, 2018 

 
Bremen Station 

6775 South Street 
 

 
 

 
Consider granting Site Plan Approval and recommending that the Village Board grant the 

petitioner, Vince Tessitore on behalf of VIN Properties LLC, Final Plat approval, a Special Use 

Permit to allow Accessory Residential Uses where street-level commercial is required and 

Variations from the Zoning Code to construct a 60,311 square foot five (5) story mixed-use 

development called Bremen Station consisting of 39 residential apartments (20 one-

bedroom 19 two-bedroom) and 4,579 square feet of retail space on the first floor for the 

property located at 6775 South Street in the DC (Downtown Core) Zoning District. 

 

The project includes vacation of approximately 2,157 square feet of right-of-way that will 

be deeded to the developer and consolidated as a single lot for this development. The 

mixed-use building will include interior covered parking and improvements to the 

streetscape and public roadways. The development will include a private outdoor dining 

patio for the tenant space expected to be utilized for a restaurant. The mixed-use building 

is consistent with the vision of the Legacy Plan and Transit Oriented Development (TOD) 

principals by providing residential density in close proximity to mass transportation. 
Through these principals, the Village will be able to attract commercial uses that will serve 

residents of the project and the community, thereby contributing to the economic health 

of the downtown area and Village of Tinley Park. Staff’s primary concern is with the 

building’s proposed architectural design. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Petitioner 

Vince Tessitore, Manager 

VIN Properties LLC 

 

Property Location 

6775 South Street 

 

PIN 

28-30-415-004-0000 

 

Zoning 

DC (Downtown Core) 

 

Approvals Sought 

Special Use Permit 

Site Plan Approval 

Variations 

Final Plat Approval 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Planner 

Daniel Ritter, AICP 

Senior Planner 
 



Bremen Station – 6775 South Street 

 

Page 2 of 20 

 
The subject site, 6775 South Street was 

previously the location of the Bremen Cash 

Store (ca. 1887). In 2007, the building was 

originally approved to be redeveloped and 

repurposed for a Boston Blackies restaurant. 

During the redevelopment, the building was 

deemed structurally unsafe and was 

demolished by the developer in 2008. 

Originally, the developer planned to build a 

replica building for the restaurant. The plans 

for a replica building were never applied for 

due to the downturn in the economy and the 

site has been vacant since that time. 

 

The current owner bought the property in 2012 

and began to develop plans for the site in 

2016. In 2017, initial plans for a five (5) story 

building were submitted for initial discussion 

and review. A number of changes have been 

made to the original design including stepping 

back the fifth-floor, the parking layout, creating 

a more traditional exterior design and 

upgraded exterior materials. The project was 

always designed with the intent that a small 

portion of right-of-way at the intersection of 

South Street and 67th Court would be vacated 

by the Village for a development on this parcel 

as part of a larger incentive agreement. The 

existing intersection is planned to be realigned 

with the existing underground utilities 

rerouted. The vacated portion is only adjacent 

to this private property and the additional lot 

space makes a restaurant/commercial space 

more viable on the property without losing any 

apartment amenities or interior parking 

spaces. 

 

During the demolition of the Bremen Cash 

Store building, the building’s original turned oak columns from the facade were saved and the Village has stored these 

since that time with the hope they could be reused on this parcel. These columns have been offered to the developer 

for use in their project. The columns are not expected to be able to be reused structurally and the Applicant has stated 

they were unable to find an attractive use on the exterior of the building. They have indicated they would like to use 

them on the interior of the building, but that would be dependent on the specific restaurant that comes in and their 

design. Staff has recommended using them in the construction of the entryways to the apartments and restaurant to 

ensure their use in the building. 

 

Open Item #1: Discuss the reuse and incorporation of turned oak columns from the original Bremen Cash Store 

building. 

 

 
Above: Bremen Cash Store circa 2006 

 
Above: Original Oak Columns Salvaged from Bremen Cash Store 



Bremen Station – 6775 South Street 

 

Page 3 of 20 

 

The subject property (outlined in red) is 

zoned DC (Downtown Core)  within the 

Legacy District.  The characteristics of this 

district are described in the Legacy Code as, 

“The Downtown Core District consists of the 

highest density and height, with the greatest 

variety of uses. Street frontages have steady 

street plantings and pedestrian amenities, 

and buildings form a continuous street wall 

set along wide sidewalks”. 

 

Nearby land uses include the Oak Park 

Avenue Metra Station and commuter parking 

to the north zoned CV (Civic); Vacant land 

proposed for The Boulevard, a four-story 

mixed-use development to the east zoned DC 

(Downtown Core); Citi Bank to the west zoned 

DC (Downtown Core); and the Vogt Visual Arts 

Center operated by the Tinley Park – Park 

District zoned CV (Civic) to the south. 

 

The Downtown Core District allows for varying building heights depending on the specific location. The maximum 

height ranges from four (4) stories along Oak Park Avenue to seven (7) stories in height for the properties directly to 

the south (The Boulevard) and north of the train station.  South Street is classified as Corridor Type D which requires 

on-street parking and a thoroughfare width of 30’ curb to curb.  In addition, buildings along South Street are required 

to have street-level (first floor) commercial space with a minimum depth of 50’.  Buildings may not be set back further 

than five feet (5’) from the front property line and storefronts with an enclave cannot exceed 50% of the width of the 

lot. Below are the required setbacks for properties in the DC (Downtown Core) District and various zoning 

requirements are listed in the plans. 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Citi  

Bank 

Vogt 
Visual 

Arts 



Bremen Station – 6775 South Street 

 

Page 4 of 20 

 
The Petitioner desires to construct a 60,311 square foot mixed-use development called Bremen Station.  The 

approximately 17,157 square foot site is comprised of two (2) properties, the original Bremen Cash Store parcel and 

a portion of right-of-way that will be vacated and sold to the developer as part of a development agreement. The 

building will be five (5) stories and 61 feet in height with 4,579 square feet of retail space on the first floor and 39 

residential apartment units (20 one-bedroom & 19 two-bedroom).  All one-bedroom units will be 800 square feet in 

size. Two-bedroom units range in size from 945 square feet to 1270 square feet in size. One (1) two-bedroom unit that 

is 945 square feet in size is below the minimum size for a two-bedroom unit of 1,000 square feet. The Petitioner’s 

preference is for it to remain a two-bedroom instead of being converted to a larger one-bedroom unit. Staff does not 

have concerns with the variation for a single unit to be a two-bedroom instead of a one-bedroom apartment. 

 

Open Item #2: Discuss a Variation to permit one (1) two-bedroom apartment to be 945 square feet instead of the 

1,000 square foot minimum required by code.  

The building will have an underground enclosed parking garage with a portion occupying 5,530 square feet of first-

floor space south of the proposed restaurant space.  The garage includes 41 resident parking spaces (33 standard, 6 

compact, 2 ADA). Other uses of the basement area include resident bike parking, building storage, restaurant storage, 

mechanical equipment, stairwells, and elevators. The first floor will include a trash area and garbage chute. The 

applicant’s construction timeline anticipates starting construction in spring 2019 and completing the project by 

spring/summer 2020. 

 

A seven foot (7’) wide outdoor dining space has been included along the South Street frontage for use by the 

restaurant tenant. This dining area will be located entirely on private property. The outdoor dining area will be 

delineated from the right-of-way by a three-foot (3’) high fence matching in material and design to the residential 

balcony railings. The Legacy Code permits a private frontage to have a dining alcove extend up to 50% of the frontage 

width. This proposed dining alcove will extend the entire width of the South Street frontage and would require a 

setback Variation to extend the entire building frontage. The result is that the first floor of the building is set back as 

 
Above: Streetscape and Site Plan 



Bremen Station – 6775 South Street 

 

Page 5 of 20 

much as 7.8 feet (7.8’) instead of the maximum of five feet (5’) that is permitted by code. Staff supports the proposed 

outdoor dining design which allows the restaurant to have a larger and more practical outdoor dining area along 

South Street. It also avoids sharp façade changes that a dining alcove can cause on a relatively short building frontage. 

 

Open Item #3: Discuss a Variation to permit the front yard building setback to be a maximum 7.8 feet to allow an 

outdoor dining to be placed the entire length of the South Street frontage instead of a maximum of 50% of the 

frontage.  

  

The proposal also includes significant on-and off-site improvements, such as new sidewalks and streetscape 

enhancements (trees, benches, and lights).  The developer will be required to install streetscape improvements along 

South Street and 67th Court. The code requires a minimum width of six feet (6’) for streetscape enhancements 

(landscape, benches, and lighting) and a minimum width of seven feet (7’) for sidewalks along South Street and 67th 

Court.  All other sidewalks along commercial streets require a minimum width of six feet (6’). The Village has hired a 

consultant to create a Streetscape Master Plan for the downtown. Staff recommends the approval of the Site Plan be 

conditioned upon compliance with an approved Downtown Streetscape Master Plan. The hope for the streetscape 

plan is to tie in the Bremen Station, The Boulevard at Central Station, North Street and other future developments to 

create a durable, attractive and consistent streetscape in the downtown. 

 

Two (2) Variations are required based on the proposed public frontage widths. First, along 67th Court, the landscape 

buffer has been removed for a small section (approximately 60 feet) of the road closest to the intersection. This 

portion of public frontage does not propose a landscape buffer leaving only sidewalks. Second, the on-street parking 

required along South Street per the required corridor plan (Type D) is not being supplied. The lack of on-street parking 

is due to the short width and small size of the lot. The space that to install on-street parking takes away space from 

the first floor commercial space or the required covered parking and therefore making the lot much more difficult to 

develop. In addition, locating parking at a bend in the road close to an intersection creates traffic safety concerns that 

might require further analysis. While the Legacy Plan aims to maximize on-street parking, staff is supportive of waiving 

the required on-street parking at this specific location. 

 
Above: Basement Plan with Vehicle Parking, Bike Parking, Mechanical and Storage Space  



Bremen Station – 6775 South Street 

 

Page 6 of 20 

Open Item #4: Discuss a Variation from the required public frontage buffer width of seven feet (7’) for approximately 

60 feet (60’) in length along 67th Court, where no buffer area is proposed between the sidewalk and roadway. 

 

Open Item #5: Discuss a Variation for required on-street parking spaces along South Street as required in Corridor 

Type D. 

 

Open Item #6: Final streetscape plans are being designed and shall be incorporated into the proposed plans prior 

to permitting. Staff recommends this be a condition of approval. 

 

The proposed Bremen Station development will result in the removal of a fence and some parking spaces currently 

used by the Tinley Park – Park District’s Vogt Visual Arts building. While this parking encroaches onto the subject 

property, Staff recommends that the Petitioner work with the Tinley Park – Park District and ensure that their site is 

repaired effectively and that it does not disrupt their operations. The petitioner has indicated they have talked with 

the Tinley Park – Park District and have proposed to repair and stripe five (5) parallel parking spaces on their property. 

No formal acknowledgment of contact or approval has been supplied from the Park District. In addition, the Petitioner 

has not proposed a replacement for the existing fence between the properties. If there will be no fence or barrier 

between the two (2) properties, staff recommends creating a barrier curb or grade difference between the Bremen 

Station sidewalk and the parallel parking spaces on the Vogt Visual Arts building to act as a curb stop and separation 

between pedestrians and vehicles. The applicant has indicated they agree with this and that it will be addressed within 

their final grading plans. Staff has recommended a condition be placed on the site plan approval that a minimum six 

inch (6”) grade difference is maintained between the Park District parking and the Bremen Station sidewalk. 

 

Open Item #7: Formal correspondence and approval from the Tinley Park – Park District has not been submitted 

indicating they understand the proposal and agree with the proposed five (5) parallel spaces to be replaced on the 

Vogt Visual Arts property by the Petitioner. 

 
Open Item #8: A curb or grade difference is required between the sidewalk and parallel parking spaces for the safety 

of pedestrians and vehicles. Staff recommends a condition be placed on the approval requiring a minimum six inch 

(6”) grade difference. 

 

FLOOR PLANS 

 

Shared resident amenities will include an 

outdoor rooftop terrace on the second floor 

(808 sf) and an exercise room (734 sf), 

lounge (601sf) and outdoor terrace located 

on the fifth floor (1184 sf).  The apartment 

units will be high-end luxury units, each 

with an in-unit washer and dryer. All units 

will have a balcony, some recessed and 

some projecting. Two (2) second-floor units 

will have privately fenced patio space next 

to the shared resident roof terrace.  The 

units facing south have balconies that 

encroach within the required five feet (5’) 

rear yard setback and require a variation. It 

is not expected this Variation will have any 

effect on the adjacent property to the 

south, which is the historic Vogt Visual Arts 

Center building.  

 
Above: Fifth-floor, amenities include lounge, terrace, and exercise room. 



Bremen Station – 6775 South Street 

 

Page 7 of 20 

Floors 2-5 are all setback up to 44 feet from the front property line. This 

setback of the floors is due to the odd triangle shape of the vacated right-

of-way parcel and the difficulties with creating apartment layouts with 

that shape. The maximum setback per the Legacy Code is five feet (5’). 

This is to create a pedestrian-friendly and inviting street wall in the 

downtown and avoid setbacks. The odd lot shape and use of a shared 

balcony on the second floor make good use of space that would 

otherwise be difficult to develop. Because the building will be set back 44 

feet on floors 2-5, a variation is required. 

 

Open Item #9: Discuss Variation to permit balconies to encroach five 

feet (5’) into the rear yard setback where balconies are not permitted to 

encroach. 

 

Open Item #10: Discuss Variation to allow floors 2-5 to be setback 44’ 

instead of the permitted maximum of five feet (5’). 

 

The Petitioner is proposing to locate their common 

apartment entrance vestibule, lobby, and leasing office 

on the first floor along South Street. The Legacy Code 

indicates that the South Street frontage requires street-

level commercial and apartment amenities are only 

permitted with Special Use Permit approval. The 

apartment entrance and amenities could be relocated 

off of the 67th Court frontage, where street-level 

commercial space is not required. The Petitioner has 

indicated this is due to a set interior layout and inability 

to relocate the stairwells and elevators to the east side 

along 67th Court. The apartment entrance and amenities 

utilize approximately 18’ 1” (21.23%) of the total frontage 

which is approximately 85’ 2”. The remaining frontage 

will be utilized by the restaurant tenant space. 

 

Open Item #11: Consider the proposed location of the 

apartment entrance vestibule, lobby, and leasing 

office. Consider alternative location off of the 67th 

Court frontage. 

 

The proposed on-site leasing office is a small 138 square 

foot space that is expected to  be used as an appointment only office. However, if there is an on-site office regardless 

of how often it is used, a bathroom is required to meet the applicable plumbing codes. Sharing a restroom with the 

restaurant is not an acceptable solution as the spaces may have different uses, hours of operation and can change 

ownership. If the office is to remain, a bathroom will need to be installed. While an on-site leasing office is preferred, 

due to the size of the development, it may not be needed. If it is determined the on-site office is not needed, the 

resulting space could be utilized as a package delivery/storage area for residents or incorporated into the restaurant 

space. 

 

Open Item #12: Consider if an on-site leasing office is necessary for the proposed development. If the on-site office 

is maintained, a restroom will need to be added. 

 

 

 

 

 
Above: Second floor, private fenced patio 

areas (blue stars) next to the shared 
rooftop terrace. 



Bremen Station – 6775 South Street 

 

Page 8 of 20 

ACCESS 
 

The parking garage will be accessed along 67th Court by a private overhead door entrance to be used by residents. 

Residents can then enter the building from inside of the garage. Additionally, the apartments can be accessed by 

pedestrian traffic from the South Street entrance and through the parking garage entrance on the south side of the 

building. 
 

Staff has safety concerns with vehicles exiting the development and their potential conflict with pedestrians. There 

is decreased visibility and blocked sightlines due to decreased setbacks typical in downtown and transit-oriented 

developments (TOD). The chance for a conflict is often mitigated with a combination of flashing lights, audible 

sounds, signage, and mirrors used by to warn both the vehicle and pedestrians. No details on how exiting vehicles 

will be handled have been supplied in the plans, however the Petitioner has indicated they will utilize mirrors for 

vehicles to see the sidewalk. 

 

Open Item #13: Clarify and submit information on how conflicts between vehicles exiting from the garage and 

pedestrians using the sidewalk will be limited. 
 

LOADING & TRASH 
 

The restaurant will have a receiving door along 67th Court. The location in front of this door is likely to be a no-

loading or parking zone due to the small width of the right-of-way. It is likely restaurant loading will need to happen 

by parking farther down 67th Court or across the street at the Metra parking lot. The same is likely to happen for 

residents who are using larger trucks to move in or out of apartment units. The applicant has indicated they plan to 

have shipments carted into the restaurant but have not indicated where these trucks would park. Without any on-

site loading area or on-street parking, it is possible this could lead to illegal parking of trucks along 67th Court or 

South Street. 

 

Open Item #14: Clarification of the loading and receiving operations and truck locations for the restaurant and 

residents. Indicate truck locations and adequate right-of-way widths being maintained. If off-site truck parking is 

proposed, agreements should be supplied. 

 

Resident garbage collection will be funneled to an enclosed room on the first floor of the parking garage. Garbage 

trucks will have access through the main garage door but it is unlikely a garbage truck will be able to back in or 

maneuver the space. Garage ceiling heights may also not be adequate for a garbage truck to operate. A truck 

entering the garage may also cause issues with other vehicles trying to enter or leave the parking garage while a 

garbage truck is on-site. In addition, no separate trash area is indicated for the restaurant space and appears to be 

sharing the resident garbage area. There is no access to the parking garage from the restaurant and based on the 

current plan, an employee will need to exit the building and walk down the 67th Court sidewalk, into the garage and 

then into the garbage area to empty the trash. This is further complicated by weather conditions and also presents 

security and littering possibilities. If the garbage area is utilized by both residents and the commercial space, staff 

also has concerns about the proposed size of the space which is unlikely to hold more than one (1) dumpster which 

can easily fill up between pickups and on weekends. Due to the lack of an alley or drive-aisle on the site, there are 

no alternative locations for dumpster storage and the use of a public sidewalk for trash pickup is not an acceptable 

solution. 

 

Based on the current plan concerns remain about the potential overflow of garbage, restaurant staff needing to 

utilize the public sidewalk for a long distance and for garbage dumpsters potentially being placed on the public 

sidewalk. It is recommended the petitioner consult with the trash company in regards to these concerns and 

present a refuse and pick-up plan. 
 

Open Item #15: Clarification of the on-site garbage pickup operations. Include residential and commercial spaces, 

expected pickup frequency, location and truck location/operation and clarification that a garbage truck can 

maneuver the space as proposed. 



Bremen Station – 6775 South Street 

 

Page 9 of 20 

The Legacy Code requires a minimum of 75% of all facades and roofs exclusive of glazing shall be comprised of brick, 

stone & fiber cement siding. Accent material can have a maximum of 25% of concrete panels and decorative block. 

The proposed building will be constructed of a combination of face brick, Hardie cement panels, stucco, and synthetic 

molding/trim. The primary material used will be face brick and comprises of anywhere from 75% to 80% of the overall 

material, depending on the specific elevation, and is in compliance with Code requirements. 

 

The first floor consists of a building façade that comes to a hard point at the southwest corner of 67th Court and South 

Street. The building cantilevers at the point over a chopped corner entrance to the restaurant tenant space. The 

primary restaurant façade is along the north elevation (South Street) and a small portion of the east elevation (67th 

Court). The restaurant façade primarily consists of face brick and large open windows accented by architectural 

elements such as a trim/molding around the perimeter, metal canopy roofs, square corner emblems and wall sconces. 

The entrance to the Bremen Station entrance will also be slightly set back into the façade along the north (South 

Street) elevation. The metal canopy roof along 67th Court encroaches approximately seven feet (7’) into the right-of-

way. Canopies are permitted to encroach up to five feet (5’) into the right-of-way; plans will need to be revised with 

the canopy complying with the required encroachment maximum of five (5) feet. 

 

Open Item #16: Revise plans so that the metal canopy along 67th Court only encroaches a maximum of five feet (5’) 

into the right-of-way. 

 



Bremen Station – 6775 South Street 

 

Page 10 of 20 

The rest of the first floor façades on the east, west and south elevations consist primarily of brick due to the location 

of the parking garage, back-of-house restaurant and other unattractive uses along the façade. There are slight indents 

into the façade and the trim/molding will continue to give the façade some dimension. The garage entrance and 

restaurant receiving door will also be located along the east (67th Court) façade.  

 

These façades, while not the front of the building, will still be visible from public ways and neighboring properties. 

There are limited alternatives to add windows or openings on the first floor due to the parking garage location. 

However, there are other options available to change the exterior appearance of the building. Relocating the 

accessory residential uses to the 67th Court frontage can add some intrigue to that frontage. Other alternatives include 

using stone on the first floor, adding or enlarging windows, adding brick banding, creating breaks in the façade. 

 

Overall, staff has concerns with the large expanses of brick and harsh look along the west, south and east facades 

and their potential effect on the walkability and attractiveness of the block. Staff recommends the Petitioner look at 

different alternatives to create a softer and more attractive façade. 

 

Open Item #17: Discuss concerns with the large expanses of brick along the first-floor west, south and east 

elevations. 

 

The second-floor façade includes a shared resident roof terrace and two (2) private patios that are on the triangle roof 

section located over the restaurant space. Staff had originally suggested this “leftover” roof space be used as rooftop 

seating for the restaurant but due to fire, accessibility and noise issues this was not possible for the Petitioner to 

accomplish. The wall around this roof area will be 42” tall and consist of brick with a metal cap and a metal railing that 

matches the residential balconies and outdoor dining area railings. The private balcony areas will be separated with 

a wall matching the exterior of the building.  

 

Staff still questions whether this is the best design for the north side of the building and recommends the architect 

investigate expanding the building to the north which can provide additional interior space especially along the east 

side of the building that can allow for better articulation along that façade. This would allow for and indentation on 

the east façade similar to what is proposed on the west façade. 

 

 

 



Bremen Station – 6775 South Street 

 

Page 11 of 20 

 

The second, third and fourth-floor residential units will stay consistent along each façade and include more traditional 

square style windows with window headers and trim to increase the architectural appeal of the building. Balconies 

along the north and south elevation will extend from the building. The north elevation will include decorative columns. 

Balconies on the west and east façades will be set into the building. Smaller windows are used in areas such as 

bathrooms, headboard/bed walls, and stairwells. Staff recommends changing interior layouts to accommodate a 

more consistent window placement and use of full-size windows where possible. 

 

Open Item #18: Discuss window locations, sizes, and appearance. 

 

The fifth-floor of the building will be setback slightly along the east elevation and will have two triangle asphalt roof 

features. The hope of setting the fifth-story back is to help soften the building façade and give it a smaller appearance. 

The west side of the fifth floor will be constructed of Hardie panels due to the stairwells required to access the roof 

and the need to screen the rooftop mechanical equipment. Additional trim, banding, and molding have been added 

to this portion of the top floor to create a more traditional look and tie it into the rest of the building. 

 

 

 

 

 
Above: East Elevation looking from 67th Court 

 
Above: West Elevation looking from Oak Park Avenue/Citi Bank 



Bremen Station – 6775 South Street 

 

Page 12 of 20 

Some adjustment to the interior layout may be required, however, staff recommends revisiting the exterior 

architecture to be more traditional, and appealing and better connect with the downtown architecture. While the 

above image is hand drawn and does not indicate the use of brick or stone, the sketch is much more appealing than 

the current proposal. 

 

Open Item #19: Discuss any improvements to the overall architectural design of the building that could be made to 

make it more architecturally appealing. Staff suggests the architect look at different ways of creating a softer and 

more inviting design that ties into the downtown. 

 

BUILDING HEIGHT 
 

The building is proposed to be five (5) stories and 61 feet in height, with the fifth floor slightly stepped back. The 

Legacy Code limits the site to a maximum of four (4) stories and the proposal requires a Variation request for this. 

With the vacation of the triangular piece of ROW this property now has frontage on South Street and therefore 

functions similarly to the height allowances along that street frontage. The Petitioner has indicated that the proposed 

five (5) stories is a transitional parcel between the Oak Park Avenue frontage and the larger permitted heights around 

the train station. The Boulevard at Central Station, approximately 300,000 square foot mixed-use development to the 

east of Bremen Station was recommended for approval at a height of four (4) stories and 58 feet tall. However, The 

Boulevard site is much larger and does not include covered parking under its first phase. The petitioner has stated 

that the fifth story is required to be able to include the required covered parking, commercial space and apartment 

amenities for the project to be successful and financially feasible. Due to the small footprint, fifth floor step-back, and 

traditional building design, Bremen Station is expected to appear similar in scale to The Boulevard at Central Station 

development and other mixed-use developments in the downtown. 

 

Open Item #20: Discuss the Variation to permit the building to be five (5) stories instead of the maximum of four (4) 

stories. 

 
Above: Original hand-drawn architectural proposal (dated 2-20-17) 



Bremen Station – 6775 South Street 

 

Page 13 of 20 

 
The development works to maximize the buildable footprint of the lot while still maintaining an attractive streetscape 

and landscaping were space is available. The developer has stated dogs will not be allowed in the building and no 

outdoor dog or recreational areas have been proposed.  

 

The proposed streetscape is an example of what the Village may like to see in regards to landscaping, trees, benches, 

and streetlights. However, streetscape plan details for the downtown are currently being designed by a Village 

consultant. Staff has recommended that the landscape and site plans be subject to meeting all streetscape 

requirements laid out in the Village’s future streetscape plan or any changes the Village sees fit prior to permitting.  

 

Arborvitaes, Boxwood, and Wintercreeper have been added along the west side of the property where there is a five 

foot (5’) setback between the Bremen Station property and the Citi Bank property. These were added to soften the 

view from Oak Park Avenue and prevent cut-through traffic between the properties. Some variety to the plantings 

could be added to the west façade to help create a more appealing and pleasing view. Additionally, these plantings 

cannot be maintained easily without going on to the Citi Bank property and clarification is needed on how this can be 

accomplished. 

 

Open Item #21: Discuss plantings on west façade and maintenance concerns. Increased diversity of species and 

visual appearance is encouraged. 

 
The plan indicates various sign band location on the building 

along with gooseneck style lighting. However, the plans do not 

indicate specific signage design details. On larger developments, 

staff typically recommends the use of a Unified Sign Plan to 

create cohesive and visually pleasing signage throughout the 

site. In this case, there is only one (1) tenant space with one (1) 

entrance. Any changes to split the space or change the facade 

would require approval. The petitioner has indicated that the 

sign requirements in the Legacy Code will suffice for their needs 

and due to their only being one (1) tenant, signage will always 

be consistent. Staff still recommends the development of a 

Unified Sign Plan specific to Bremen Station to ensure that all 

wall signage used for the tenant and for the apartment entrance 

stay consistent in their design type and illumination. 

 

Open Item #22: Discuss the need to provide a Unified Sign Plan and ensure signage styles and design is kept 

consistent within the development. 

 

 
The Downtown Core District does not require parking for street-level commercial uses. However, it does require one 

(1) enclosed space (located within, or attached to, the building envelope) for each residential unit. The proposed 

project provides the required amount of residential parking spaces. The Site Plan proposes to create 41 parking spaces 

located within the building envelope. There are 33 standard size spaces (9’x18’), six (6) are proposed as  compact 

spaces (8’x16’) and two (2) spaces have been designed for  accessible parking needs. Even though the developer is 

meeting the required minimum number of parking stalls, staff is concerned whether a near 1:1 ratio will be adequate 

for the residents who may need parking for more than one (1) car or for an overnight guest. No on-street parking 

adjacent to this development is being proposed as required by the public frontage requirements. This limits the ability 

 



Bremen Station – 6775 South Street 

 

Page 14 of 20 

for guests, customers, employees in the site to park proximate the site. It should be noted that the Village restricts 

street and public lot parking from 2-5 am which could further limit parking for guests. 

 

Compact vehicles spaces were added to increase the number of parking spaces in the garage by a total of two (2). 

This ensures that if an additional accessible parking space is ever requested by residents, there is still the minimum 

number of spaces required for residents. Because these spaces are limited in number, will be assigned and only used 

by residents, staff does not have concerns about the decreased stall size. Staff does recommend the petitioner look 

into preparing some parking spaces to be used for electrical vehicle charging, so that if requested by a resident, 

installation is easier. 

 

Open Item #23: A Variation will need to be granted to reduce the size of the parking stalls in the parking garage 

allowing for compact parking stalls measuring 8’ x 16’ allowing the project to maximize the parking garage space 

with compact vehicle spaces. 

 

Open Item #24: Discuss spaces to be easily converted to electrical vehicle charging locations. 

 

Open Item #25: If any parking concerns remain, the Developer should provide a parking study to support parking 

needs. 

 

BIKE PARKING 

 

The Legacy Code requires one (1) bike stall per dwelling unit and .2 per 1,000sf of Street Level Commercial. The total 

required minimum number of bike stalls is one (1) stall for the commercial tenant space and 39 stalls for the 

residential units.  The bike storage for the residential units is located in the parking garage basement and will include 

spaces for up to 40 bicycles. A four (4) space bicycle rack is proposed in the public streetscape along South Street for 

use by the commercial space.  The final location and number of these bike racks will be determined when the final 

streetscape plan is approved. Staff recommends Site Plan approval be conditioned upon the final number of bike 

racks and locations be finalized once the downtown streetscape plan is completed.  
 
Open Item #26: Staff recommends Site Plan approval be conditioned upon the final number of streetscape bike 

racks and locations be finalized once the final streetscape plan is completed. 

 

 
Various building lighting fixtures are shown on the architectural renderings. The cut sheets for the wall sconces were 

not provided and a photometric plan was not submitted. 

 

Open Item #27: Supply all light fixture cut sheets and a final photometric plan needs to be provided. 

 

 

 

 
The project includes the vacation of a 2,157 square foot triangle shaped portion of the right-of-way and consolidation 

of that land with the existing private lot. The draft plats are attached and currently under review by the Village Engineer 

and Attorney. Any comments from these reviews need to be addressed prior to the public hearing. 

 

Open Item #28: Discuss Plat of Vacation and Plat of Subdivision/Consolidation. 

 

 

 



Bremen Station – 6775 South Street 

 

Page 15 of 20 

 

Staff identified the following open items for discussion at the workshop: 

 

1. Open Item #1: Discuss the reuse and incorporation of turned oak columns from the original Bremen Cash 

Store building. 

 

2. Open Item #2: Discuss a Variation to permit a two-bedroom apartment to be 945 square feet instead of the 

1,000 square foot minimum required by code 

 

3. Open Item #3: Discuss a Variation to permit the front yard building setback to be a maximum 7.8 feet to 

allow an outdoor dining to be placed the entire length of the South Street frontage instead of a maximum 

of 50% of the frontage. 

 

4. Open Item #4: Discuss a Variation from the required public frontage buffer width of seven feet (7’) for 

approximately 60 feet (60’) in length along 67th Court, where no buffer area is proposed between the 

sidewalk and roadway. 

 

5. Open Item #5: Discuss a Variation for required on-street parking spaces along South Street as required in 

Corridor Type D. 

 

6. Open Item #6: Final streetscape plans are being designed and shall be incorporated into the proposed 

plans prior to permitting. Staff recommends this be a condition of approval. 

 

7. Open Item #7: Formal correspondence and approval from the Tinley Park – Park District has not been 

submitted indicating they understand the proposal and agree with the proposed five (5) parallel spaces to 

be replaced on the Vogt Visual Arts property by the Petitioner. 

 

8. Open Item #8: A curb or grade difference is required between the sidewalk and parallel parking spaces for 

the safety of pedestrians and vehicles. Staff recommends a condition be placed on the approval requiring 

a minimum six inch (6”) grade difference. 

 

9. Open Item #9: Discuss Variation to permit balconies to encroach five feet (5’) into the rear yard setback 

where balconies are not permitted to encroach. 

 

10. Open Item #10: Discuss Variation to allow floors 2-5 to be setback 44’ instead of the permitted maximum 

of five feet (5’). 

 

11. Open Item #11: Consider the proposed location of the apartment entrance vestibule, lobby, and leasing 

office. Consider alternative location off of the 67th Court frontage. 

 

12. Open Item #12: Consider if an on-site leasing office is necessary for the proposed development. If the on-

site office is maintained, a restroom will need to be added. 

 

13. Open Item #13: Clarify and submit information on how conflicts between vehicles exiting from the garage 

and pedestrians using the sidewalk will be limited. 

 

14. Open Item #14: Clarification of the loading and receiving operations and truck locations for the restaurant 

and residents. Indicate truck locations and adequate right-of-way widths being maintained. If off-site truck 

parking is proposed, agreements should be supplied. 

 



Bremen Station – 6775 South Street 

 

Page 16 of 20 

15. Open Item #15: Clarification of the on-site garbage pickup operations. Include residential and commercial 

spaces, expected pickup frequency, location and truck location/operation and clarification that a garbage 

truck can maneuver the space as proposed. 

 

16. Open Item #16: Revise plans so that the metal canopy along 67th Court only encroaches a maximum of five 

feet (5’) into the right-of-way. 

 

17. Open Item #17: Discuss concerns with the large expanses of brick along the first-floor west, south and east 

elevations. 

 

18. Open Item #18: Discuss window locations, sizes and appearance. 

 

19. Open Item #19: Discuss any improvements to the overall architectural design of the building that could be 

made to make it more architecturally appealing. Staff suggests the architect look at different ways of 

creating a softer and more inviting design that ties into the downtown. 

 

20. Open Item #20: Discuss the Variation to permit the building to be five (5) stories instead of the maximum of 

four (4) stories. 

 

21. Open Item #21: Discuss plantings on west façade and maintenance concerns. Increased diversity of 

species and visual appearance is encouraged. 

 

22. Open Item #22: Discuss the need to provide a Unified Sign Plan and ensure signage styles and design is kept 

consistent within the development. 

 

23. Open Item #23: A Variation will need to be granted to reduce the size of the parking stalls in the parking 

garage allowing for compact parking stalls measuring 8’ x 16’ allowing the project to maximize the parking 

garage space with compact vehicle spaces. 

 

24. Open Item #24: Discuss spaces to be easily converted to electrical vehicle charging locations. 

 

25. Open Item #25: If any parking concerns remain, the Developer should provide a parking study to support 

parking needs. 

 

26. Open Item #26: Staff recommends Site Plan approval be conditioned upon the final number of streetscape 

bike racks and locations be finalized once the final streetscape plan is completed 

 

27. Open Item #27: Supply all light fixture cut sheets and a final photometric plan needs to be provided. 

 

28. Open Item #28: Discuss Plat of Vacation and Plat of Consolidation. 

 

 



Bremen Station – 6775 South Street 

 

Page 17 of 20 

 

Section III.T.2. of the Zoning Ordinance requires that Planning Staff must find that the conditions listed below must be 

met. Staff will prepare draft responses for these conditions within the next Staff Report. 

 

a. That the proposed Use is a Permitted Use in the district in which the property is located. 

 

b. That the proposed arrangement of buildings, off-street parking, access, lighting, landscaping, and 

drainage is compatible with adjacent land uses.   

 

c. That the vehicular ingress and egress to and from the site and circulation within the site provides for safe, 

efficient, and convenient movement of traffic, not only within the site but on adjacent roadways as well. 

 

d. That the Site Plan provides for the safe movement of pedestrians within the site.  

 

e. That there is a sufficient mixture of grass, trees, and shrubs within the interior and perimeter (including 

public right-of-way) of the site so that the proposed development will be in harmony with adjacent land 

uses and will provide a pleasing appearance to the public; any part of the Site Plan area not used for 

buildings, structures, parking, or access-ways shall be landscaped with a mixture of grass, trees, and 

shrubs. 

 

f. That all outdoor trash storage areas are adequately screened. 

 

 

In addition to any other specific standards set forth herein the Plan Commission shall not recommend a Special Use, 

variance, appeal, or map amendment from the regulations of this ordinance unless it shall have made findings of fact, 

based upon evidence presented to it, in each specific case that: 

 

a. The proposed improvement meets the Legacy Plan and its Principles, as presented in Section 1.A-B: 

Purpose and Intent, of this ordinance; 

 

b. The new improvement is compatible with uses already developed or planned in this district and will not 

exercise undue detrimental influences upon surrounding properties. 

 

c. Any improvement meets the architectural standards set forth in the Legacy Code. 

 

d. The improvement will have the effect of protecting and enhancing the economic development of the 

Legacy Plan area. 



Bremen Station – 6775 South Street 

 

Page 18 of 20 

 

Section X.J.5. of the Zoning Ordinance lists standards that need to be considered by the Plan Commission. The Plan 

Commission is encouraged to consider these standards (listed below) when analyzing a Special Use request. Staff will 

provide draft Findings in the Staff Report for the Public Hearing. 

 

X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said Commission shall find: 

 

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 

endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 

 

b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 

the neighborhood; 

 

c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 

 

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided; 

 

e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 

minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and 

 

f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village Board 

pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such conditions 

and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to ensure 

compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit upon other 

properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  Failure to 

comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance. 

 

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development of the 

community as a whole. 

 

It is also important to recognize that a Special Use Permit does not run with the land and instead the Special Use 

Permit is tied to the Petitioner. This is different from a process such as a variance, since a variance will forever apply 

to the property to which it is granted. 

 

Section X.G.4. of the Zoning Ordinance states the Plan Commission shall not recommend a Variation of the regulations 

of the Zoning Ordinance unless it shall have made Findings of Fact, based upon the evidence presented for each of 

the Standards for Variations listed below. The Plan Commission must provide findings for the first three standards; 

the remaining standards are provided to help the Plan Commission further analyze the request. Staff will prepare 

draft responses for the Findings of Fact within the next Staff Report.  

 

1. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 

conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located. 

 

2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances. 



Bremen Station – 6775 South Street 

 

Page 19 of 20 

 

3. The Variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 

 

4. Additionally, the Plan Commission shall also, in making its determination whether there are practical 

difficulties or particular hardships, take into consideration the extent to which the following facts favorable 

to the Petitioner have been established by the evidence: 

 

a. The particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical condition of the specific property 

involved would result in a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 

inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations were carried out; 

 

b. The conditions upon which the petition for a Variation is based would not be applicable, generally, 

to other property within the same zoning classification; 

 

c. The purpose of the Variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 

the property; 

 

d. The alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by the owner of the property, or by a 

previous owner; 

 

e. The granting of the Variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to other 

property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located; and 

 

f. The proposed Variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to an adjacent property, 

or substantially increase the congestion in the public streets, or increase the danger of fire, or 

endanger the public safety, or substantially diminish or impair property values within the 

neighborhood. 

 

Following a successful workshop, proceed to a Public Hearing at the November 1, 2018 Plan Commission meeting. 

 
 



Bremen Station – 6775 South Street 

 

Page 20 of 20 

 

 

Submitted Sheet Name 
Prepared 

By 

Date On 

Sheet 

 Cover Sheet – Bremen Station KDC 10-18-18 

 Additional Renderings KDC 10-18-18 

 Colored Elevations KDC 10-18-18 

 Plat of Survey and Topography RHG 3-24-17 

C100 Preliminary Engineering EEA 9-24-18 

LS-1 Streetscape Plan KDC 10-1-18 

LS-2 Streetscape Landscape Plan KDC 10-1-18 

LS-3 Schematic Details & Plant Schedule KDC 10-1-18 

 Building Area Tables KDC 10-18-18 

 Basement Plan KDC 10-18-18 

 First Floor Plan KDC 10-18-18 

 Second Floor Plan KDC 10-18-18 

 Third & Fourth Floor Plan KDC 10-18-18 

 Penthouse Floor Plan KDC 10-18-18 

 Roof Plan KDC 10-18-18 

 North Elevation (B&W) KDC 10-18-18 

 East Elevation (B&W) KDC 10-18-18 

 South Elevation (B&W) KDC 10-18-18 

 West Elevation (B&W) KDC 10-18-18 

 Signage KDC 10-18-18 

 Plat of Subdivision/Consolidation – Bremen Station RHG 9-10-18 

 Plat of Vacation RHG 9-10-18 

 Light Fixtures KDC 9-7-18 

    

    

    

 KDC = Kuo Diedrich Chi, Architect   

 RHG = R.H. Granath Surveying Service P.C.   

 EEA = Eriksson Engineering Associates, LTD.   

 



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
SPECIAL USE PERMIT APPLICATION 

The undersigned hereby Petitions the Tinley Park Long Range Plan Commission and/or the 
Village Board to consider a Zoning Map Amendment and/or Special Use Permit as follows: 

A. Petitioner Information:
. Name: VIN PROPERTIES LL.C - SERIES SOUTH STREET 
Mailing Address: 1755 PARK STREET, SUITE 200 

City, State, Zip: ...:N.::.A.::...P�ER:..:..V.;..:.IL::,:L
:;::;

E""', 1;;;.L .;.;60:..:;c5;:..;53'-------------------,--
Phone Numbers: _____ _ 

Email Address 
 

VINCE@L TLAWOFFIC E .COM 

(Day) Fax Number:  

(Evening) 
(Cell) 

�-----------·Tne°J1arnreof·PetiHorier's·rriteres
r

fri"tlie i>roperty"aii'<llor reiaifonshJi,.io-tlie ·o�ner· · ·
(Applications submitted on behalf of the owner of record must be accompanied by a signed letter of authorization): 

OWNER 

B. Property Information:
The identity of every owner and beneficiary of any land trust must be disclosed.
Property Owner(s ): VIN PROPERTIES LLC - SERIES SOUTH STREET 

Mai]ing Address: 1755 PARK STREET, SU ITE 200 

City, State, Zip: -'N'""A""'"P..;;:E""'Rv.:..:1;:;;LL;::;;E;.:... c..1L..;..60:;.:;5"'"63:..-_�-------------------

Property Address; 
Permanent Index No. (PINs) 
Existing ]and use: 
Lot dimensions and area: 

C. Petition Information:
Present Zoning District :
Requested Zoning District;

6775 SOUTH STREET, TINLEY PARK, IL 

28-30-415-004-0000 
VACANT 

159. 79' X 1 00' plus ROW portions to be vacated by Village 

B4 (downtown core - L@gacy Code) 

i.ame 

Is amecial Use Penn:it being requested (including Planned Developments); 
Yes ./ No-0- . . . 

· If yes, 1 entify the proposed use: For the residential entrance and lobby amenities of approximately
· 20 linear feet on South Street, due to the street-level commercial 

requirement along the South Street frontage. 

· Will anl variances be required from the terms of the Zoning Ordinance?
Yes./ Non.
If yes, p ease �ain (note that Variation application wiH be required to be submitted):

lncr:ease sro�ies fr.om 4 to 5, setback af 35-4Q' foe stories 2-5 and allow balconies to extend to lot line on rear side.

The Applicant certifies that all of the above statements and other information submitted as part 
of this application are true and correct to the best of his or her knowledge. 

 
�0-201, --- · ···- =D-a.;.,t

e
..,,.c.,.-��------

S:\BLDG\�PLANNING DEPAATMENT\l.<:>ug Range Plan Coimllission\UU'C AppHcauon Forms\A.P _SU 5-2007.dQ\: Page I of 2 



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 

SPECIAL USE PERMIT APPLICATION 

APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS 
A complete application consists of the following items submitted in a comprehensive package: 

I. The application form, completed and signed by the property owner(s) of record or their
authorized agent. Written authorization from the property owner(s) of record is required in order
for an authorized agent to act on behalf of the owner(s).

2. Evidence of the applicant's ownership of or interest in the subject property, with a copy of the
title commitment or title policy. Note that ownership includes disclosure of all beneficiaries of a
land trust, if applicable.

3. The $400 application fee, payable to the Village of Tinley Park.

·----�-----·-·······----------4�---A···written···proje·ct .. n�rrative··dcrscribing .. the .... generai--·nature· .. ana···out1m"ing .. ··specific· as15ects ·· Of· the .... ·· ·· · ··· -· ·· - ·· -- ··· ··· 
proposal. 

5. A Plat of Survey of the subject property, including the legal description of the subject property .
. This survey must have been prepared by a registered Illinois Land Surveyor, and include all
existing structures and improvements on the subject property.

6. Plans and any other information deemed necessary to support the application.

An application will not be accepted or processed until all of the items above have been submitted. 

Questions regarding this process or application requirements may be directed 
to the Planning Department at 708-444-5100. 

S:\BWG\_l>LANNING DEPARTMEN1\Long Range Plan Commission\LRPC Applioation Ponns\AP _SU 5-2007.doc Page 2 of 2 



FINDINGS OF FACT 
SPECIAL USE PERMIT - (Including Planned Developments) 

PURSUANT TO THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK ZONING ORDINANCE 

Section X.J. of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance requires that no Special Use be recommended by 
the Plan Commission unless the Commission finds that all of the following statements, A-G listed below, are 
true and supported by facts. Petitioners must respond to and confirm each and every one of the following 
findings by providing the facts supporting such findings. The statements made on this sheet will be made part of 
the official public record and will discussed in detail during the Plan Commission meetings and will be provided 
to any interested party requesting a copy. 

Please provide factual evidence that the proposed Special Use meets the statements below and use as much 
space as needed to provide evidence. 

A. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or
endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare.

The residential entrance off South Street will encourage pedestrian traffic to the
restaurant area of the building and nearby businesses along South Street, and will
provide convenience to the residential tenants of the building.

B. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the
immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair
property values within the neighborhood.

The entrance off South Street will be of benefit to property values in the neighborhood
and will increase their enjoyment as the entrance will encourage pedestrian traffic to
surrounding businesses.

C. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development
and improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.

The entrance off South Street will encourage development and improvement of
surrounding property by bringing pedestrian traffic and energy to South Street and the
surrounding area.

D. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are
being provided.

Adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and other facilities are being provided or
have been provided in accordance with Village standards.

E. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.

The requested access off of South Street is pedestrian access and it will not affect
traffic in the public streets.

Page 1 



F. That the Special Use shall in all other respects conform to the applicable regulations of the district
in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village
Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.

The access off of South Street in all other respects conforms to the regulations of the
B4 Zoning District in which the property is located.

G. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic
development of the community as a whole.

The residential entrance along South Street, in concert with the entire development
planned for the site, is a tremendous improvement to the existing site's appearance
and value, and will be beneficial to property values in the general area. The site's
masonry construction, enhanced architectural features, and pleasing aesthetics
present a development that the entire downtown area will be proud of.

Page2 



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
APPLICATION FOR ZONING ORDINANCE VARIAN CE 

The undersigned hereby Petitions the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Board of Appeals and/or Plan 

Commission to consider a Variation from the terms of the Zoning Ordinance as follows: 

PETITIONER INFORMATION 

Name: VIN Properties LLC - Series South Street

Mailing Address: 1755 Park Street, Suite 200

City: Naperville Zip: 60563

Day Phone: Evening Phone: ___________ _ 

Cell Phone:   
  

Email Address: vince@ltlawoffice.com

Nature of Petitioner's Interest in the property and/or relationship to the owner: 
(Applications received on behalf of the owner ofrecord must be accompanies by a signed letter of authorization). 

Owner 

PROPERTY INFORMATION 

Street Address: 6775 South Street, Tinley Park, IL

Owners: VIN Properties LLC - Series South Street

SPECIFIC TYPE OF VARIANCE REQUESTED (See Examples Below): 
1. A variance to increase the maximum number of stories from 4 to 5.
2. A variance to allow front yard setback of approximately 35-40 feet instead of the maximum 5 feet on stories 2-5.
3. A 5-foot variation from the required minimum rear yard setback of 5 feet to allow balconies to extend to the
property line.

Examples of Specific Type of Variance Requested: 
This refers to the exact number of feet, the exact dimensions of a structure, exact height/type offence. 
For example: 

"A 15 foot Variance to the Front Yard Setback on the East side of the property to allow for a 6-foot tall 
cedar fence on this comer lot." 

"A 180 square foot variance to the 720 square foot maximum allowable size of an accessory structure to 
allow for a 30 foot or 900 square foot garage on this residential property." 

"A 10 foot variance to the 10 foot maximum allowable height for a sign to allow for a 20 foot high 
monument sign on this commercial property. 

Page 1 



REASON THAT THE VARIANCE IS NEEDED: (See Examples below) 

1. The 5th floor of the building is necessary in order to provide a user friendly mixed use residential and commercial building while at the same time setting a high 
precedent for architecture in the downtown area. The site is triangular in shape at its frontage to South Street which presents some degree of difficulty in design. The 
5th floor is stepped back from South Street and 67th Court. Doing so creates architecture with greater depth and interest through the use of sloped roofs, balconies, and 
a varied fai;ade. The 5th story will not be seen by pedestrians on the sidewalk adjacent to the building. The design team preserved the cornice at the top of the 4th 
story, as well as created a 1-story commercial portion at the corner. 
2. A front yard setback of approximately 35-40 feet instead of the maximum 5 feet for stories 2-5 is due to the unusually irregular sh ape of the space which includes a 
triangular shaped comer. When measured from South Street, the depth meets the requirement, and when measured at from the comer perpendicular to the back wall at 
its greatest distance it also exceeds the minimum. But the triangular shape leaves the shortest distance at just over 35 ft. 
3. A reduction in the 5 foot setback on the south, or rear, side of the building to allow the balconies to extend to the property line in order to provide residential tenants 
with apartment square footage and a balcony amenity that is consistent with luxury apartments. 

Examples of Reasons that the Variance is needed: 

"We would like to extend our fence 15 feet toward the street from the front corner of the house so that 
we can enclose a pool, swing set, shed, landscaping, trees, side entrance, etc., and provide a safe area for 
our children to play" 

"We would like to build an oversized garage on our property so that we may store our antique vehicle, 
snow mobiles, riding lawn mower, etc., inside, as well as our two other cars, which are currently parked 
in the driveway" 

The Petitioner certifies that all of the above statements and other infonnation submitted as part of this 
Application and Findings of are t orrect to the best of his or her knowledge: 

Date: September 6, 2018 

Printed Name: Vincent Tessitore 
����������������������� 

OFFICE USE ONLY: 

Current Zoning on Property __________ Present Use ____________ _ 

Notes 

Page2 



FINDINGS OF FACT 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION TO BE PRESENTED 
TO SUPPORT AV ARIATION REQUEST FROM THE TERMS OF 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK ZONING ORDINANCE 

Section X.G.1 of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance requires that the Zoning Board 
of Appeals detennine compliance with the following standards and criteria. In order for a 
variance to be approved, the Petitioner must respond to all the following questions with facts 
and infonnation to support the requested Variation: 

A. Describe the difficulty that you have in confonning with the current regulations and
restrictions relating to your property, and describe how this hardship is not caused by
any persons presently having an interest in the property. (Please note that a mere
inconvenience is insufficient to grant a Variation). For example, does the shape or size
of the lot, slope, or the neighboring surroundings cause a severe problem in completing
the project in conformance with the applicable Ordinance requirement?

1. The 5th floor of the building is necessary in order to provide a user friendly mixed use residential and commercial building while at the same time 
se!Ung a high precedent for architecture in the downtown area. The site is triangular in shape at its frontage to South Street which presents some degree 

. of difficulty in design. The 5th floor is stepped back from South Street and 67th Court. Doing so creates architecture with greater depth and interest 
through the use of sloped roofs, balconies, and a varied fayade. The 5th story will not be seen by pedestrians on the sidewalk adjacent to the building. 

· The design team preserved the cornice at the top of the 4th story, as well as created a 1-story commercial portion at the corner. 
2. A front yard setback of approximately 35-40 feet instead of the maximum 5 feet for stories 2-5 is due to the unusually irregular shape of the space 

· which includes a triangular shaped corner. When measured from South Street, the depth meets the requirement, and when measured at from the corner 
perpendicular to the back wall at its greatest distance it also exceeds the minimum. But the triangular shape leaves the shortest distance at just over 35 ft. 

· 3. A reduction in the 5 foot setback on the south, or rear, side of the building to allow the balconies to extend to the property line in order to provide 
. residential tenants with apartment square footage and a balcony amenity that is consistent with luxury apartments. 

B. Describe any difficulties or hardships that current zoning regulations and restrictions
would have in decreasing your property value compared to neighboring properties.

The building is directly across 67th court from a block with a permitted zoning of 7 stories. 
· Unlike the adjacent properties, the subject site has an atypical triangular shape on its north
. side. The additional floor, allowance of the rear balconies, and reduction in depth
requirement are necessary in order to provide an aesthetically pleasing and user friendly
environment, and to meet market expectations for new restaurant space and high quality
residential units meeting or exceeding the Village's minimum square footage requirements.

C. Describe how the above difficulty or hardship was created.

It is believed that the reason the block was zoned 4 stories is due to the fact that the other 
· side of the block fronts Oak Park Avenue and the planners likely observed that the entire
· block could be redeveloped, thus creating a need to preserve the 4 story maximum for the
entire block. In this case, only the half of the block fronting 67th Court and South Street is
being developed, and this half of the block does not face or have frontage on Oak Park
Avenue. The site's shape is the historical result of planning for surrounding lots and uses.



FINDINGS OF FACT (CONTINUED) 

D. Describe the reasons this Variance request is unique to this property only and is not
applicable, in general, to other properties within the same Zoning District.

The property is unique due to its irregular shape and because it is one half of a block 
where the other half fronts Oak Park Avenue, but this half does not. The property is a 
transitional area from Oak Park Avenue frontage adjacent and east where 4 stories are 
· permitted to the 67th Court frontage adjacent and west where 7 stories are permitted.

E. Explain how this Variance would not be regarded as an attempt at financial gain, but
only because of personal necessity. For example, the intent of the Variance is to
accommodate related living for an elderly relative as opposed to adding an additional
income source.

· The intent of the variance is to allow for a mixed use development that sets a
standard in architecture and design for the remaining development of the downtown
area, while at the same time being a transitional area from the main thoroughfare
· buildings on Oak Park Avenue to the planned development east of the property
· fronting 67th Court.

F. Describe how granting this Variance request will not be detrimental to the public
welfare or injurious to other properties or improvements in the neighborhood in which
the property is located: (Example: fencing will not obstruct view of automobile
traffic).

The public sidewalks, entrances, and setbacks (except the slight variation) are in accordance with Village 
standards and promote a community friendly development with pedestrian access across the property and 
unobstructed views to pedestrians and surrounding traffic. The slight setback for the balconies faces the 
Vogt Fine Arts building and will not be injurious to this property as future development of the Vogts building 

· is not likely. The improvements, including the balconies, will enhance the aesthetics of the neighborhood.

G. Explain how granting this Variance will not alter the essential character of the
neighborhood or locality:

The design is consistent with the character of the neighborhood as it transitions from 
four story zoning immediately adjacent and west of the site to seven story zoning 
immediately adjacent and east of the site. The masonry structure preserves some of 
the character and history of the old masonry Bremen Cash building and sets a high 
architectural standard for future buildings in the downtown area. 



FINDINGS OF FACT (Continued) 

H. Describe how the requested Variance will not:

1. Impair an adequate supply oflight and air to adjacent properties.

The addition of the stepped back fifth floor will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to 
. adjacent properties. The building is sufficiently set back from all sides, including on the east 
and north sides where it is adjacent to 67th Court and South Street, on the west side where it is . 
adjacent to the Citibank drive thru car ports, and on the south side where it is adjacent to the 
private drive of the Vogt Visual Arts Center. 

2. Substantially increase the congestion of the public streets.

· The use is permitted by the current zoning district and does not present a substantial
increase to congestion on the public streets. The intersection of South Street and
67th Court is being redesigned and improved in accordance with Village standards
· and in concert with the construction of this development.

3. Increase the danger of fire.

· The proposed development will comply with all Village Building and Fire Codes and
the building will be equipped with a fire supression system. The new structure is also
being built with a masonry fa9ade on all sides.

4. Impair natural drainage or create drainage problems on adjacent property.

The Village has previously provided drainage systems sufficient for this development 
and others. 

5. Endanger the public safety.

Bremen Station is being built in accordance with the Village's life, safety, and building 
codes with a masonry building and fire suppression system. Unobstructed views for 
pedestrian and vehicular traffic are being provided to promote public safety. 

6. Substantially diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.

Granting this variance request will improve the existing site's appearance and value, 
and will be beneficial to property values in the general area. The site's masonry 
construction, enhanced architectural features, and pleasing aesthetics present a 
development that the entire downtown area will be proud of. 



































Sheet Title:

Sheet No:

Reserved for Seal:

DescriptionDateNo.

Design By:

145 COMMERCE DRIVE, SUITE A
GRAYSLAKE, ILLINOIS 60030

phone (847) 223-4804
fax (847) 223-4864

email INFO@EEA-LTD.COM

ASSOCIATES, LTD.
ENGINEERING

ERIKSSON

Professional Design Firm
License No. 184-003220

Expires: 04/30/2019

C  ERIKSSON ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, LTD., 2018

B
R

E
M

E
N

 S
T

A
T

IO
N

6
7
7
5
 S

O
U

T
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

T
IN

L
E

Y
 P

A
R

K
 I
L
L
IN

O
IS

Approved By: Date:

LEGEND

SURVEY PROVIDED BY:

C100

PRELIMINARY
ENGINEERING

PAVING & SURFACE
 LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
W=699.92

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=699.76

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=699.37

AutoCAD SHX Text
CL=699.76

AutoCAD SHX Text
CL=700.29

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=699.58

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.11

AutoCAD SHX Text
W=700.21

AutoCAD SHX Text
W=700.60

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.52

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=700.04

AutoCAD SHX Text
CL=700.68

AutoCAD SHX Text
W=700.78

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.67

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=700.22

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=700.42

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.85

AutoCAD SHX Text
W=701.09

AutoCAD SHX Text
700.35

AutoCAD SHX Text
700.25

AutoCAD SHX Text
700.19

AutoCAD SHX Text
700.21

AutoCAD SHX Text
701.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
701.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
W=699.39

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=699.58

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=699.07

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=699.22

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=699.24

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=699.61

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=699.11

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=699.69

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=699.39

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=699.30

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=699.32

AutoCAD SHX Text
W=700.57

AutoCAD SHX Text
W=700.39

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=699.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=699.65

AutoCAD SHX Text
CL=699.96

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=699.90

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.40

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=699.94

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.06

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.06

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.51

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.61

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=700.15

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.19

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.61

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.63

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.22

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=700.21

AutoCAD SHX Text
W=700.45

AutoCAD SHX Text
S NW E

AutoCAD SHX Text
700.27

AutoCAD SHX Text
CL=700.60

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=699.92

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.36

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.52

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.17

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.61

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=701.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=701.04

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=700.59

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.63

AutoCAD SHX Text
W=700.85

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=700.67

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.65

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.63

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=701.12

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=701.58

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=701.20

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=701.29

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=701.68

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=701.33

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=700.92

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=701.40

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=701.12

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=701.04

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=701.33

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=700.40

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=699.84

AutoCAD SHX Text
699.64

AutoCAD SHX Text
699.38

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=699.51

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=699.83

AutoCAD SHX Text
700.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=699.71

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=699.46

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=699.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=698.76

AutoCAD SHX Text
699.84

AutoCAD SHX Text
699.67

AutoCAD SHX Text
699.08

AutoCAD SHX Text
699.04

AutoCAD SHX Text
W=698.59

AutoCAD SHX Text
EP=699.34

AutoCAD SHX Text
699.26

AutoCAD SHX Text
699.19

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=699.08

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=699.53

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=699.58

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=699.68

AutoCAD SHX Text
C=699.28

AutoCAD SHX Text
W=699.74

AutoCAD SHX Text
W=699.02

AutoCAD SHX Text
CL=699.21

AutoCAD SHX Text
698.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
W=698.54

AutoCAD SHX Text
699.48

AutoCAD SHX Text
700.29

AutoCAD SHX Text
701.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
701.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
700.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
700.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
701.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
701.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
700.17

AutoCAD SHX Text
699.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
700.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
700.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
700.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
700.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
700.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
700.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
700.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
700.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
699.80

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB RIM 699.77

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH RIM 700.16

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN MH 700.52 INV - N & S  10" INV - S 687.24 DEEP BOTTOM 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN MH 700.51

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH    67th    COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT   3

AutoCAD SHX Text
50.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
50.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
140.00 (LOT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH 1/2 OF VACATED ALLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT   10

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT   9

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASPHALT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH     STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH 1/2 OF VACATED ALLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 89%%D40'58" E   89.51'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 1%%D28'17" E   149.79'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 88%%D29'55" W   100.00'.

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 1%%D28'17" W   149.79'

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLOCK 9

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLOCK 11

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATION GROUNDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
C 699.85

AutoCAD SHX Text
Gr699.35

AutoCAD SHX Text
C 700.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
G 699.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
C 700.34

AutoCAD SHX Text
G 699.84

AutoCAD SHX Text
C 700.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
G 700.20

AutoCAD SHX Text
C 700.27

AutoCAD SHX Text
G 699.77

AutoCAD SHX Text
C 700.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
G 700.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
C 700.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
G 700.45

AutoCAD SHX Text
C 700.75

AutoCAD SHX Text
G 700.25

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 700.10

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 700.55

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 700.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 700.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 700.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
C 700.17

AutoCAD SHX Text
G 699.67

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 700.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 700.60

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 700.60

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 700.25

AutoCAD SHX Text
G=701.20

AutoCAD SHX Text
C 700.30

AutoCAD SHX Text
G 699.80

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 700.20

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 700.05

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARKET  (174th)

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" Water Service

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" Sanitary Sewer Service

AutoCAD SHX Text
12" Storm Sewer Conn.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Inspection MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 700.20

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 700.05

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 699.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 699.55

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 698.55%%p

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 698.50%%p

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 698.45%%p

AutoCAD SHX Text
Transition to Exist.

AutoCAD SHX Text
12:1

AutoCAD SHX Text
5%

AutoCAD SHX Text
2%

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 700.20

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 700.60

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 700.60

AutoCAD SHX Text
P 699.80

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT  1

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 28%%D04'22" W   48.24'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Bldg Cor. is 0.08'W

AutoCAD SHX Text
Bldg Cor. is O.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RMS

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIS PLAN & DESIGN ARE THE PROPERTY OF ERIKSSON ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, LTD.  NO REPRODUCTION OF ANY PART OF THESE PLANS IS PERMITTED WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF ERIKSSON ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, LTD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
08/06/18

AutoCAD SHX Text
Per Village

AutoCAD SHX Text
TLH

AutoCAD SHX Text
07/05/18

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
09/04/18

AutoCAD SHX Text
Revise ROW, Building

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
09/17/18

AutoCAD SHX Text
Update Property Lines per Sub.

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
09/24/18

AutoCAD SHX Text
Revise Building

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
Top of Retaining Wall

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ground Elevation

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sidewalk Elevation

AutoCAD SHX Text
Pavement Elevation

AutoCAD SHX Text
Gutter Elevation

AutoCAD SHX Text
Depressed Curb

AutoCAD SHX Text
Curb & Gutter

AutoCAD SHX Text
Telephone Line

AutoCAD SHX Text
Telephone Manhole

AutoCAD SHX Text
Telephone Pedestal

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/W 785.20

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 782.10

AutoCAD SHX Text
P 783.25

AutoCAD SHX Text
784.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
G 782.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
C 782.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
Curb Elevation

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
Fence

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sign

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
Utility Pole

AutoCAD SHX Text
Light Pole

AutoCAD SHX Text
P 783.25

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 782.10

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/W 785.20

AutoCAD SHX Text
784.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
G 782.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
C 782.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
Electric Manhole

AutoCAD SHX Text
Electrical Cable

AutoCAD SHX Text
Overhead Wires

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sanitary Sewer

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
CE

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Hand Hole

AutoCAD SHX Text
Gas Line

AutoCAD SHX Text
Gas Valve

AutoCAD SHX Text
Buffalo Box

AutoCAD SHX Text
Valve Vault

AutoCAD SHX Text
Fire Hydrant

AutoCAD SHX Text
Water Main

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
OH

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
 (Buried)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.O.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Area Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text
Storm Sewer

AutoCAD SHX Text
Clean Out

AutoCAD SHX Text
Catch Basin

AutoCAD SHX Text
Manhole

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
OH

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.O.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED

AutoCAD SHX Text
Swale

AutoCAD SHX Text
Contour Line

AutoCAD SHX Text
781

AutoCAD SHX Text
 Elevation

AutoCAD SHX Text
781

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
Downspout

AutoCAD SHX Text
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DS

AutoCAD SHX Text
Inlet

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
Bollard

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
Plat of Survey and Topography Provided By R.H. Granath Surveying Service For Vin Properties, LLC on March 24, 2017.  Drawing Number 0017-03-014

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale: 1"=

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
40'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Asphalt Pavement Section  1 1/2" Hot Mix Asphalt,Mix D, IL-9.5, N50   2 1/2" Hot Mix Asphalt, IL-19.0, N50  Prime Coat (0.25 gal/sq yd)  8" Aggregate Base Course, Type B, Crushed

AutoCAD SHX Text
Concrete Driveway Section  8" Portland Cement Concrete  6"x6" W2.9xW2.9 Welded Wire Fabric  6" Aggregate Base Course, Type B, Crushed

AutoCAD SHX Text
Concrete Sidewalk Section  5" Portland Cement Concrete  2" Aggregate Base Course, Type B, Crushed





































Bremen Station
Light Pole Selection7 September 2018



Bremen Station
Wall Sconce Selection7 September 2018

16" Oldage LED Mahogany Bronze 
Rustic Indoor/Outdoor Barn Light

Product Specs
•Max Wattage: 24 watts
•Luminous Flux: 1600 lumen
•Color Temperature: 2700K
•Light Source: Integrated LED
•Average Bulb Life: 50,000 Hours
•Mounting Options: Drywall or Equivalent Only
•Input Voltage: 120 Vac 0.2A 60Hz
•Output Voltage: 24Vdc 1000mA
•Dimmable: Yes
•Recommended Dimmer: Lutron Skylark series, 
Leviton Superslide series



 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

7 3 0   P e a c h t r e e   S t   N E ,   S t u d i o   3 2 5  
A t l a n t a ,   G e o r g i a   3 0 3 0 8  
678.244.6270  vo i ce  |  6272   f ax  

w ww .KDCa r c h i t e c t s . c o m  
 

 
 
 
Subject:  Bremen Station 6775 South Street –  

Response Letter (responses in italicized red) 
 
To:  Village of Tinley Park – Dan Ritter, Sr. Planner  
 
Date:  October 3, 2018 (last edited) 
 
 
 
 
Dan: 
 
Please find below, our comments addressing each issue introduced in your Staff Review Letter 
dated July 26, 2018: 
 
1. The dimensions on the preliminary engineering plan show the rear of the building as 

being closer than 5 feet to the property line. The site plan and architectural plans 
indicate the building wall to be 5 feet from the property line and balconies to be 0 feet 
from the property line. Please clarify and revise. 

 The south façade of the building has been coordinated at a location of 5’ from the south 
property line. 

 
2. Space and opportunity for outdoor dining are important aspects to have in the 

downtown and must be located on private property. The façade can have a step back to 
create a dining alcove with a maximum depth of 15 feet that extends for up to 50% the 
width of the lot. Additionally, only 13 feet of right-of-way width (6 foot sidewalk and 7-
foot buffer) is required along South Street; the additional right-of-way space could be 
used to help accommodate the outdoor seating on private property. Please indicate 
outdoor dining dimensions and seating locations on the site plan. Please indicate proper 
right-of-way vacation on the preliminary plat of survey. 

 The north building façade along South Street is located 20’ from the curb leaving 7’ of 
width for sidewalk dining outside of the 13’ ROW. 

 



Bremen Station – Response Letter, Page 2 of 6 
 

 

3. An agreement and plans shall be worked out with the Tinley Park Park District about the 
restoration and relocation of parking on the Vogt Fine Arts site. It is recommended that 
the site is fully restored and that parallel spaces are striped to replace the removed 
parking as much as possible. Any fencing or barrier between the sites shall be 
architecturally appealing and tie into the two properties. 

 On the Landscape Plan, we’re showing 5 parallel parking spaces in the abandoned 
alley. 

 
4. The overall aesthetic appeal of the building should be reevaluated and redesigned. The 

architectural appeal of the original design drawing (Feb. 20, 2017) is what has been 
sold to the Village Board and what the incentives were offered based upon. Specifically, 
the first floor of the east, west, and south facades are very harsh looking and are just 
solid brick walls without architectural detailing or articulation. The overall design is 
modern and has few details to tie into the existing downtown architectural design. 
Please review the following elements and revise the plans accordingly. 

 
a. Use limestone or similar lighter color banding on the façade around the first floor 

and rooftop areas. This banding and molding appears to be the same color and 
material as the primary material being used. 
We’ve incorporated a faux “limestone” band at the first level cornice line and fifth 
level floor line. This band shall be a contrasting light gray color relative to the 
vintage red tones of the brick. 

b. Add windows or other architectural design elements where there are large 
expanses of brick. This is present on the first floor and upper levels of all 
facades. 
We’ve added infilled brick window patterns in large expanses of uninterrupted 
brick walls. 

c. Windows proportions were more architecturally appealing with the square 
proportions shown on the first design, rather than more modern rectangle design 
in the current proposal. 
We’ve incorporated more squarish shaped window openings. 

d. Add projecting balconies if possible to the east façade to give it articulation and 
tie into the front facade. This can be accomplished without extending over the 
public right-of-way by shifting the building up to the west where there is currently 
a 5-foot setback. 
We have recessed balconies within the unit designs that will provide visual depth 
to the east façade. 

e. More ornate architectural detailing should be used in the structure, molding, trim, 
balconies and parapet areas. 
We changed all door and window details (heads and sills) to be more traditional 
in nature. 

f. A balcony is shown on the north and south façades coming from the roof/parapet 
area. This should be removed and redesigned to have a similar design to the rest 
of the building. 
We removed the respective balconies at the roof parapet above the fifth level. 

 



Bremen Station – Response Letter, Page 3 of 6 
 

 

5. The material being used for the signage backing area is not defined in the plans. The 
architectural line rendering indicates this will be a different material while the color 
elevation indicates this will be brick. 

 The wall material behind the future signage has been coordinated as the same brick 
veneer for all walls. 

 
6. The outdoor residential terrace should have specific setup proposed on the plans 

(tables, chairs, grills, etc.). There are currently 2 different lines shown on the plan that 
would divide private balcony areas from the resident terrace. Please define exactly 
where the location will be and the proposed barrier that will be used (material, height, 
etc.). 

 We’ve detailed the Roof Terrace over the Restaurant with a 42”h privacy wall to the two 
adjacent units and will provide lounge furniture for resident use. 

 
7. The south portion of the building should be shown as a 5 foot wide concrete walkway 

from the stairwell to the public sidewalk. There is unused and undefined space on the 
ground level behind the stairwell and along the west façade. These areas should have 
appropriate landscaping installed. 

 We’ve added a 5’w sidewalk along the south side of the building toward (and connected 
to) the pedestrian sidewalk along 67th Court. 

 
8. The apartment access and common area frontage on South Street is not a commercial 

use and street-level commercial is required the entire length of this frontage. A Special 
Use will be required for this to be located on that South Street frontage. It is 
recommended the resident entrance be relocated to 67th Court frontage next to the 
leasing office (would allow the acceptance of packages, some level of security and 
service to be given to residents, etc). It is understood that this would take some 
redesign of the floor plan layouts if the stairwell is moved, but believe this option needs 
to be explored. If a special use is requested for the apartment amenities to take street-
level commercial space, please describe specifically why this cannot be designed to be 
located along 67th Court. 

 We request permission to locate the Resident Entrance off of South Street (as shown) 
in order to maintain the need for only two egress stair cores on the residential floors. We 
feel this location will actually enhance and energize pedestrian activity along South 
Street similar to the effect generated by the requested commercial use. 

 
9. The driveway on the 67th Court frontage creates a situation where the sidewalk would 

not be ADA compliant (greater than 2% cross slope) but may be able to be revised to 
have a compliant sidewalk and steeper approach between the street and sidewalk 
(similar to a residential home layout). This information must be addressed with 
appropriate grading details on the preliminary engineering plans for review. 

 Our Civil Engineer has made the necessary revision (as shown in the respective 
drawing) for ADA compliance. 

 
10. If no specific signage details will be shown, please make sure to review the Legacy 

Code’s sign allowances (pgs. 69-80) to ensure this will meet the needs of your 
development. If any additional allowances are needed, now is the time to make the 
request instead of going back to the Plan Commission and Village Board after-the-fact. 



Bremen Station – Response Letter, Page 4 of 6 
 

 

 The Legacy Code regarding signage has been thoroughly reviewed and will serve as 
the basis of any proposed signage in the future. 

 
11. The proposed leasing office location and design are problematic and may not be 

compliant with a number of codes. Please verify the comments below and that this can 
be constructed. If the leasing office cannot be constructed please indicate where the 
office will be located. 

 The location of the Leasing Office has moved to the Resident Lobby. As such, this 
function to the public will help support the Village’s desire for a commercial use, along 
South Street. 

 
a. There is no bathroom for this space as is typically required by building, health 

and plumbing codes. 
b. The space does not appear that it will easily comply with the state or federal 

accessibility codes. 
c. The walls are likely to cause issues in the parking garage ramp as there appears 

to be no clearance between the drive aisle and the wall. At a minimum, there 
shall be room for bumpers, side view mirrors or other appendices in the car to not 
contact the wall with two large vehicles passing each other. Bollards will not be 
sufficient as this will still cause regular damage to vehicles and causes a 
personal safety risk if a person’s arm is out of the window. 

 
12. Public frontage improvements have not been reviewed and the details are being worked 

on now. A condition will be placed on the approval requiring the street frontage design 
to comply with the streetscape design guidelines determined at the time of permitting. 

 We’re providing for the 13’ ROW requirements along South Street (6’ sidewalk and 7’ 
buffer) and fully intend to adhere to the future standards implemented by the Village. 

 
13. Please submit a general schedule or timeline of the construction work. 
 The following is our intended Project Schedule: 
 October: Zoning Approvals 
 October – March: Design Development/Construction Documents/Costing 
 December: Foundation Permit 
 March – April: Building Permitting 
 May – July ’20: Construction Process 
 Summer ’20: Completion 
 
Required Variations and Special Use Requests based on 7-6-18 Plans 

The Variations and Special Use Requests (below) are submitted as separate 
documents provided by the Owner. 

 
1. The building is 5 stories instead of the maximum 4. In concept, staff does not see this 

request as a major concern. As described, this lot is actually a transitional parcel 
between Oak Park Avenue parcels (maximum 4-stories) and the South Street 
development area (maximum 7-stories). 

 
2. Front yard setback of approximately 35-40 feet instead of the maximum 5 feet on stories 

2-5. It is recommended you reduce this as much a possible while still creating an 



Bremen Station – Response Letter, Page 5 of 6 
 

 

aesthetically appealing façade. If it is decided to pursue this variance, the rooftop can 
be designed as rooftop dining, not solely as a residential deck. 

 
3. 5-foot variation from the required minimum rear yard setback of 5 feet to allow balconies 

to extend to the property line. In concept, staff does not see this request as a major 
concern. It is unlikely the Vogt Fine arts building will be redeveloped in the future or that 
the balconies will interfere with any of the surrounding properties. 

 
4. A Special Use is required for the residential entrance and lobby amenities of 

approximately 20 linear feet due to the street-level commercial requirement along the 
South Street frontage. Staff recommends the entrance to the apartments be designed 
off of 67th Court and attached to the nearby the leasing office. This would require 
rearranging internal layout but the result would leave the entire South Street frontage as 
restaurant/commercial space as required by the code. There would also be 
opportunities for package delivery and more security at the apartment entrance if 
needed. If you do decide to pursue the special use, explain exactly why the entrance 
cannot be designed off of 67th Court or another location on the site. 

 
In addition to our answers to your Response Letter, the following are our descriptive responses 
to the highlighted Open Items that aren’t graphically evident within the drawings. This set of 
items was received via email on 9/24 and discussed over the phone on 9/25.  
 
Open Item #1 -  We would like to use the building’s original oak columns as an interior 

element within the new restaurant space. 
 
Open Item #7 -  On 10/3, I had a phone conversation with the Park District about the 

proposed 5 parking spaces. 
 
Open Item #8 - Along the South property line between the 5’ sidewalk and 5 parallel 

parking spaces, there will be a raised edge condition at the sidewalk that 
creates a curb stop for parked cars. The final elevations will be determined 
during final grading design. 

 
Open Item #10 - At the parking garage access location for the safety of passers-by, we’ll 

position mirrors such that exiting cars/drivers can see pedestrians as 
they’re about to walk across the garage opening. 

 
Open Item #11 - All restaurant deliveries will be arranged for off-operational hours and 

carted via a hand-truck carted to the Eastside set of double doors. We 
expect deliveries to be made by box trucks without the need for a loading 
dock. 

 
Open Item #12 - Trash removal will be privately contracted and picked up twice a week (or 

more, if deemed necessary) by a rear-loaded compactor truck that 
uploads wheeled carts parked inside the building’s Trash Room. This 
Trash Room and vertical chute serves as an internal receptacle that is 
accessed from all floors above. No trash will be taken or stored outside of 
the building. 



Bremen Station – Response Letter, Page 6 of 6 
 

 

Open Item #19 - There will be two establishments that will require signage: 1) the 
restaurant tenant; and 2) the apartment tenant. Both signage treatments 
will be consistent and within the Unified Sign Plan found within the 
Village’s Legacy Code. 

 
 
Thanks for your diligent assistance with this application and review process. Please feel 
welcome to contact me if anything needs clarification, or additional information is necessary. 
 
Best regards, 

 
 
JC Chi, Principal 
 

 
 
 
 


	01 10-18-2018 Plan Commission Agenda
	02 PC Minutes 20181004 - draft
	03 PC Staff Report - Bremen Station 20180910 FINAL
	04 Special Use Application 9.6 (1)
	05 Variance Application (Bremen Station) 9.6.18_Redacted
	06 Site Plan Application (Bremen Station) 4.10.18_Redacted
	07 Plan Commission Workshop 101818 (AS)
	Plan Commission Workshop 101818-1
	Plan Commission Workshop 101818-2
	Plan Commission Workshop 101818-3
	Plan Commission Workshop 101818-4 & 5
	Plan Commission Workshop 101818
	Pages from 082018
	Plan Commission Workshop 101818
	6775 South Street_Prelim_Eng_REV4
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1





	Plan Commission Workshop 101818-6
	Plan Commission Workshop 101818-7
	Plan Commission Workshop 101818-8
	Plan Commission Workshop 101818-9
	Plan Commission Workshop 101818-10
	Plan Commission Workshop 101818-11
	Plan Commission Workshop 101818-12
	Plan Commission Workshop 101818-13
	Plan Commission Workshop 101818-14
	Plan Commission Workshop 101818-15
	Plan Commission Workshop 101818-16
	Plan Commission Workshop 101818-17
	Plan Commission Workshop 101818-18
	Plan Commission Workshop 101818-19
	Plan Commission Workshop 101818-20

	08 6775 South Street Subdivision Plat 09-10-2018
	09 6775 South Street Vacation Plat_9-10-2018draft
	10 Bremen Station - Light Fixtures (1)
	11 Bremen Station - Response Letter



